# Flygtningenævnets baggrundsmateriale

| Bilagsnr.:                      | 244  |
|---------------------------------|--|
| Land:                           | Nigeria  |
| Kilde:                          | Internal Displacement Monitering Centre  |
| Titel:                          | Nigeria: Increasing violence continues to cause internal displacement. A profile of the internal displacement situation. |
| Udgivet:                        | 8. juni 2012   |
| Optaget på baggrundsmaterialet: | 5. september 2012  |





# **NIGERIA:**

# Increasing violence continues to cause internal displacement

A profile of the internal displacement situation 8 June, 2012

This Internal Displacement Country Profile is generated from the online IDP database of the Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (IDMC). It includes an overview and analysis of the internal displacement situation in the country prepared by IDMC. IDMC gathers and analyses data and information from a wide variety of sources. IDMC does not necessarily share the views expressed in the reports cited in this Profile. The Profile is also available online at **www.internal-displacement.org**.

### **About the Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre**

The Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre, established in 1998 by the Norwegian Refugee Council, is the leading international body monitoring conflict-induced internal displacement worldwide.

Through its work, the Centre contributes to improving national and international capacities to protect and assist the millions of people around the globe who have been displaced within their own country as a result of conflicts or human rights violations.

At the request of the United Nations, the Geneva-based Centre runs an online database providing comprehensive information and analysis on internal displacement in some 50 countries.

Based on its monitoring and data collection activities, the Centre advocates for durable solutions to the plight of the internally displaced in line with international standards.

The Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre also carries out training activities to enhance the capacity of local actors to respond to the needs of internally displaced people. In its work, the Centre cooperates with and provides support to local and national civil society initiatives.

For more information, visit the Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre website and the database at www.internal-displacement.org.

**Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre** 

Norwegian Refugee Council Chemin de Balexert 7-9 1219 Geneva, Switzerland Tel.: +41 22 799 07 00 idmc@nrc.ch

www.internal-displacement.org

# **CONTENTS**

| OVERVIEW   | 5        |
|--|----------|
| INCREASING VIOLENCE CONTINUES TO CAUSE INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT                                     | 5        |
|  |          |
| CAUSES AND BACKGROUND  | 12       |
| _  |          |
| BACKGROUND   | 12       |
| ETHNICITY, IDENTITY, INDIGENES AND "SETTLERS" ELECTIONS AND POLITICAL SYSTEM                     | 12<br>13 |
| ELECTIONS AND POLITICAL SYSTEM  INEQUITY, POVERTY AND ECONOMY                                    | 14       |
| CONFLICT PREVENTION AND RESOLUTION   | 15       |
| CAUSES OF DISPLACEMENT   | 16       |
| DISPLACEMENT CAUSED BY INTER-COMMUNAL CONFLICT   | 16       |
| DISPLACEMENT CAUSED BY VIOLENCE CARRIED OUT IN THE NAME OF POLITICAL OBJECTIVE                   |          |
|  | 17       |
| DISPLACEMENT CAUSED BY FORCED EVICTIONS  | 19       |
| DISPLACEMENT INDUCED BY NATURAL DISASTER   | 20       |
|  |          |
| IDP POPULATION FIGURES   | 22       |
| <b>2</b>   | 0.0      |
| OVERVIEW OF DISPLACED POPULATIONS  | 22       |
| SCOPE OF DISPLACEMENT  Number and locations of IDPs, disaggregated by age and sex where data are | 22       |
| NUMBER AND LOCATIONS OF IDFS, DISAGGREGATED BY AGE AND SEX WHERE DATA ARE                        | 22       |
| Number and locations of IDPs   | 22       |
|  |          |
| IDP POPULATION MOVEMENTS AND PATTERNS  | 25       |
|  |          |
| POPULATION MOVEMENTS AND PATTERNS OF DISPLACEMENT  | 25       |
| PATTERNS OF DISPLACEMENT   | 25       |
|  |          |
| PHYSICAL SECURITY AND INTEGRITY  | 26       |
|  |          |
| PHYSICAL SECURITY AND INTEGRITY OF IDPS  | 26       |
| PHYSICAL SECURITY AND INTEGRITY OF IDPS  | 26       |
| BASIC NECESSITIES OF LIFE  | 27       |
|  |          |
| RASIC NECESSITIES OF LIFE  | 27       |

| CULTURAL RIGHTS  | 2                               |
|--|---------------------------------|
|  |                                 |
| PROPERTY ISSUES  | 2                               |
| PROPERTY ISSUES  | 2                               |
| ACCESS TO EDUCATION AND TO LIVELIHOODS   | 2                               |
| EDUCATION AND TO LIVELIHOODS   | 2                               |
| FAMILY LIFE, PARTICIPATION, ACCESS TO JUSTICE, DOCUMENTATION,  | AND                             |
| OTHER CIVIL AND POLITICAL RIGHTS   | 2                               |
| FAMILY LIFE  | 2                               |
| FAMILY LIFE  | 2                               |
| ACCESS TO JUSTICE AND POLITICAL PARTICIPATION  | 2                               |
| ACCESS TO JUSTICE AND POLITICAL PARTICIPATION  | 2                               |
| PROTECTION OF SPECIAL CATEGORIES OF IDPS (AGE, GENDER, DIVERS  | SITY) 3                         |
| SPECIAL CATEGORIES OF IDPS   | 3                               |
| SPECIAL CATEGORIES OF IDPS   | 3                               |
| DURABLE SOLUTIONS (RETURN, LOCAL INTEGRATION, SETTLEMENT   |                                 |
| ELSEWHERE IN THE COUNTRY)  | 3                               |
|  |                                 |
| DURABLE SOLUTIONS  | 3                               |
| DURABLE SOLUTIONS  | 3                               |
| NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL RESPONSE  | 3                               |
|  |                                 |
|  | 3                               |
| OVERVIEW INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING   |                                 |
| OVERVIEW INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT   | 3                               |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING  | 3                               |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT  | 3                               |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING  | 3<br><b>3</b>                   |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT  | 3<br><b>3</b><br>3              |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT NATIONAL RESPONSE  | 3<br><b>3</b><br>3              |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT NATIONAL RESPONSE NATIONAL RESPONSE  | 3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3           |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT NATIONAL RESPONSE NATIONAL RESPONSE HUMANITARIAN ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE   | 3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3           |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT NATIONAL RESPONSE NATIONAL RESPONSE HUMANITARIAN ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE HUMANITARIAN ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE  | 3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3 |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT NATIONAL RESPONSE NATIONAL RESPONSE HUMANITARIAN ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE HUMANITARIAN ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE INTERNATIONAL RESPONSE   | 3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3<br>3 |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT NATIONAL RESPONSE NATIONAL RESPONSE HUMANITARIAN ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE HUMANITARIAN ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE INTERNATIONAL RESPONSE   | 3                               |
| INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS AND HUMANITARIAN LAW FRAMEWORK INCLUDING REFERENCES TO THE GUIDING PRINCIPLES ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT NATIONAL RESPONSE NATIONAL RESPONSE HUMANITARIAN ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE HUMANITARIAN ACCESS AND ASSISTANCE INTERNATIONAL RESPONSE INTERNATIONAL RESPONSE RECOMMENDATIONS BY INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS BODIES |                                 |

#### **OVERVIEW**

#### Increasing violence continues to cause internal displacement

Internal displacement is a common consequence across Nigeria of inter-communal and political violence, flooding and forced evictions. While some of the conflicts appear to be caused by overlapping and mutually reinforcing regional, religious and ethnic divisions, but violence often stems from competition for scarce opportunities and communal resources.

Current levels of displacement are deemed particularly high by a number of organisations, but in the absence of a functioning monitoring mechanism, no accurate figures are available. Ad-hoc local registration exercises have hinted at the scale of the phenomenon, but those who seek shelter and support from family and friends - and who make up the majority of internally displaced people (IDPs) - tend not to be counted.

The government has not yet adopted a national IDP policy, leaving national, international and local agencies to assist IDPs in an uncoordinated way and on a sometimes selective basis. Ratification of the legally-binding Kampala Convention, which Nigeria signed on 23 October 2009, is expected to be completed shortly. This may signal the government's intention to address internal displacement in a more consistent and coherent manner.

#### **Background**

Since Nigeria's return to civilian rule in 1999, thousands of people have been killed in recurring inter-communal conflicts and politically motivated violence that have also led to consistently large waves of internal displacement. Flooding and forced evictions have caused further, significant population movements. In April 2012, the Armed Conflict Location & Event Dataset (associated with the Oslo International Peace Research Institute) reported that the level of violence had increased drastically over the last few months, putting Nigeria on a par with Somalia in terms of the high number of conflict events it experiences.

A number of organisations suggest that current levels of internal displacement are particularly high, but in the absence of a functioning monitoring mechanism, in-depth data is, however, extremely hard to come by. Local media tend to be the main source of information on population movements, but while they cover crises they do not necessarily report on longer-term trends and developments.

The process of democratisation and decentralisation after 16 years of military regime through the creation of new local governance structures has allowed the expression of grievances. It has also fuelled overlapping and mutually reinforcing regional, religious and ethnic rivalries between northerners and southerners, Muslims and Christians and the three main ethnic groups, the Hausa-Fulani, Yoruba and Igbo (Amundsen, 2010: 9; Best, 2011: 1, 21 and 35; Diprose, 2008: 4, 6 and 27; ICG, 2010: 9 and 12; Ibeanu, 2001 and 1999: 161 and 174; Meredith, 2005: 194 and 582). In response to the inequalities and injustices brought about by failures of governance, and the government's inability to provide even basic services, ethnic and religious groups have resorted to primary loyalty to their kinsmen for aid and protection. Competition for scarce opportunities and communal resources such as farmland, pastures, fishing waters and oil-rich land have intensified.

Outbreaks of identity-based communal violence rooted in pervasive poverty, systemic social-economic inequality and discriminatory policies and practices, have become increasingly

common, occurring in virtually all of Nigeria's 36 states (CERD, 2010; Enweremadu, 2009: 2; Diprose, 2008: 27; HRW, 2006: 47; Ibeanu, 2001; Mberu, 2010; Meredith 2005: 582 and 585; Mustapha, 2007: 5; Okpeh, 2008: 53; USDoS, 2011: 35). Most conflicts have been small-scale, but some have led to the destruction of entire communities (HRW, 2006: 32). It is estimated that more than 13,500 people have been killed in several hundred separate clashes since 1999 (CERD, 2010).

The latest episodes of inter-communal violence include election-related clashes that forced more than 65,000 people to flee their homes in April 2011 (HRW, 16 May 2011). The January 2012 national strike called by labour organisations to protest the withdrawal of fuel subsidies led to communal tensions and resulted in the displacement of more than 4,000 people in Edo state (ICRC, 13 Jan. 2012). Renewed clashes over land between ethnic Tivs and Fulanis in the central state of Benue also displaced up to 15,000 people in March 2012 (African Herald Express, 11 March 2012; NRC, 7 May 2012).

Since 2009, the Islamist group Boko Haram has been responsible for the majority of violence carried out in the name of political objectives in northern and central Nigeria, leading to significant displacement. Prior to 2009, political violence was mostly in the form of fighting between government forces protecting oil installations in the Niger Delta and militants demanding more local control over resources. The level of such violence has decreased, but fighting still occurs periodically in Delta state.

#### Displacement figures and patterns

The full scope of displacement in Nigeria is unknown (Egwu, 2011: 2). There is no reliable information on the number and the situation of internally displaced people (IDPs), in part because of the complex displacement patterns, but also because of the limited capacity of federal and state governments to collect data (Blench 2003: 8; Mberu, 2010; USDoS, 2011: 35).

Estimates provided by the government and NGOs are inconsistent, generally not disaggregated by cause, age and sex, and often include only people who have sought refuge in temporary camps or shelters such as schools, churches, police and army barracks (Best, 2011: 72 and 99; CISLAC / IDMC, 2011; NRC, 7 May 2012). Most IDPs, however, are hosted by relatives (Best, 2011: 65; Blench, 2003: 9; Ibeanu 1999: 162). There are no permanent IDP camps in the country and makeshift settlements often lack basic sanitation and health facilities (Orji, 2011: 479). According to provisional data collected by the Nigerian Red Cross, almost 50,000 IDPs sought refuge in temporary settlements and shelters between January and May 2012 (NRC, 17 May 2012).

In figures supplied to the African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights, the Federal Ministry of Justice put the overall number of people displaced by conflict and flooding at more than 1.3 million as of January 2011 (GoN, 2011: 75). In contrast, a year-long survey by the National Emergency Management Agency (NEMA) suggested that fewer than 400,000 people were displaced as of October 2011, with some 74,000 living in camps (NEMA, 2011). In March 2012, the chairman of the board of the National Commission for Refugees (NCFR) estimated that a million people were internally displaced (The Punch, 23 March 23 2012). No information on the methodology used was provided for any of these estimates.

In urban areas, institutional policies of forced evictions leading to intra-urban displacement have affected more than two million people since 2000, in violation of their right to adequate housing (Al, 2011, Agenda: 38).

Flooding and soil erosion also cause regular, large-scale internal displacement. Around a million people living on the low-lying plains of the Niger river are considered at risk (FMR, 2008: 37; USDoS, 2011: 35). According to NEMA, floods displaced thousands of people in 2011 and at least 500,000 in 2010 (BBC, 31 Aug. 2011; Sunday Tribune, 15 May 2011; Vanguard, 7 April 2012).

In the absence of a functioning monitoring mechanism, data on the duration of displacements, IDPs' protection problems and the achievement of durable solutions is extremely scarce. The demolition of houses has, however, been a common practice during inter-communal conflicts, which is likely to prevent return and points towards lasting displacement (Je'adayibe, 2010). A May 2012 newspaper article reported that, a year after the post-electoral violence, camps set up to host IDPs temporarily were still in use in Kaduna state (Leadership, 5 May 2012).

#### Causes of displacement

#### 1. Displacement caused by inter-communal conflict

The April 2011 presidential elections that led to the re-election of incumbent Goodluck Jonathan, a southerner from the ruling People's Democratic Party (PDP), were among the bloodiest ever. "Zoning", an unwritten internal PDP power-sharing rule that envisages the swapping of presidential power between the north and the south every two terms, should have led to the election of a northerner (HRW, 16 May 2011).

Protests by supporters of the main opposition candidate, Muhammadu Buhari, a northerner from the Congress for Progressive Change, degenerated into riots and sectarian clashes in a third of Nigeria's 36 states. More than 1,000 people were killed and more than 65,000 displaced in the northern states of Bauchi, Kaduna, Kano, Niger, Gombe and Sokoto (Albert, 2011: 113; Chouin, 2011: 63; HRW, 16 May 2011; ICG, 2011: 1). In spite of attempts to prevent tensions through zoning, elections have regularly been marred by widespread inter-communal violence (AI, 2011, Agenda: 32; Enweremadu, 2011: 121-22; ICG, 2011: 1 and 7; Meredith 2005: 194).

On the whole, protracted inter-communal conflicts fuelled by religious, regional or ethnic divisions regularly lead to death and displacement throughout Nigeria, a country made up of a complex web of ethnic groups. The three main groups, the Hausa-Fulani, Yoruba and Igbo, represent more than half of the population, but they coexist with as many as 400 other groups (Alulaigba, 2009: 5; HRW, 2009: 3; Ibeanu, 2001; Mustapha, 2007: 3-4).

The rough overlap of ethnic, religious and regional divisions has allowed the reinterpretation of inter-communal violence along religious lines. According to the Nigerian academic Gwamna Dogara Je'adayibe (2008: 156), crises caused by religious tensions have produced the highest numbers of IDPs. In 1999, Zamfara state adopted sharia law as its only legal system. Several other northern states voiced their will to follow suit, and 11 had done so by 2002. This led to a series of uprisings and violent clashes in February 2000 between Christians and Muslims in the city of Kaduna. Many Igbo, who are generally Christian, were killed. For safety reasons, Christians and Muslims moved to areas dominated by people of their own faith, and as thousands fled the far north, religious tensions increased in other areas. In reprisal for the Kaduna violence, Igbo groups in the south killed hundreds of generally Muslim Hausa migrants from the north (HRW, 2003: 5; Meredith 2005: 586-87).

In 2001, religious clashes erupted in Jos, the capital of Plateau state, which sits on the dividing line between the largely Muslim north and Christian south. More than 1,000 people were killed and thousands more displaced (Best, 2011: 19; HRW, 2006: 43). Many settled in temporary camps or permanently in neighbouring Bauchi state (Blench, 2003: 10). Since then, deadly clashes leading to displacement have flared up regularly in and around Jos as a result of the

authorities' failure to take adequate measures to prevent violence and protect people (Al, 2011, Agenda: 30; Orji, 2011: 479; The Economist, 13 April 2010). In 2010, as many as 30,000 people fled fighting in the area (USDoS, 2011: 35).

Tensions between communities have been aggravated by prejudicial government policies that relegate millions of Nigerians to second-class citizens by discriminating against "non-indigenes" or "settlers" who cannot prove roots linking them to the original inhabitants of an area (CERD, 2010; HRW, 2006: 2 and 2009: 3). The principle behind the concept of "indigenisation" was to protect the identity, rights and interests of the country's numerous minority groups. It has turned, however, into a powerful means of exclusion under which non-indigenes are denied access to already limited resources and opportunities in terms of education, land ownership, participation in political affairs and public sector jobs, the state being a key employer (AI, 2011, Agenda: 31; HRW 2006: 10 and 2009: 3).

Article 42 of Nigeria's 1999 Constitution prohibits discrimination based on ethnicity or place of origin, but non-indigenes are, in many respects, treated like citizens of a foreign country, which erodes the value of national citizenship (Alulaigba, 2009: 11; HRW, 2006: 1-2). More than a million Nigerians are labelled non-indigenes, and growing numbers of people are unable to prove that they are indigenous to a particular state. This increase has been caused by the proliferation of states and local government areas under various decentralisation processes since the mid-1970s (Al, 2011, Agenda: 31; HRW 2006: 10). Some of the bloodiest conflicts in recent years have pitted non-indigenes against "host" communities (Egwu, 2011: 8; HRW, 2006: 33; Ladan, 2011: 8).

#### 2. 1. Displacement caused by political violence

Northern and central Nigeria: Boko Haram attacks and counterinsurgency operations

Since 2009, increasingly frequent and sophisticated attacks and bombings attributed to Boko Haram and ensuing heavy-handed counterinsurgency operations have caused death, destruction of property and significant displacement (Al, 24 Jan. 2012; IRIN, 18 July 2011; SERAC, 12 Aug. 2011). According to Human Rights Watch, Boko Haram has killed more than 1,000 people since 2010 (HRW, 7 March 2012).

The group, which has been growing in ambition and capability, initially targeted the northern states of Bauchi, Borno, Yobe and Kano. It began to operate beyond its home grounds in late 2010, when it bombed buildings in Jos, and has since pushed further south, bombing the police and UN headquarters in Abuja in June and August 2011 respectively (Shaka, 2011: 3; The Economist, 27 Aug. 2011, 8 Nov. 2011, 23 and 28 Jan. 2012). It initially targeted police and government facilities and churches, but began attacking bars and beer gardens in June 2011 and schools in February 2012 (AI, 24 Jan. 2012; HRW, March 2012).

Boko Haram, which in Hausa means "western education is forbidden", was founded a decade ago in the north-eastern city of Maiduguri. It rose to prominence in 2009 after launching an insurgency against the government in several northern states in which more than 800 people were killed (Danjibo, 2009: 10; HRW, March 2012; Je'adayibe, 2010; Reuters, 9 April 2012). It campaigns for the strict implementation of sharia law, an ideology that is not widely supported in a country where Muslims tend to be moderate (IRIN, 20 Jan. 2012; The Economist, 27 Aug. 2011).

In late December 2011, a series of attacks in which more than 100 people were killed and some 90,000 displaced led the president to declare a state of emergency in large parts of the north and to send thousands of troops to fight the group (ICG, 2 Jan. 2012; The Economist, 14 and 23 Jan. 2012; Reuters, 9 April 2012). In January 2012, after Boko Haram issued a warning to Christians living in the Hausa-dominated north to leave or face retribution, Igbo leaders in the south-east

called on Igbo families to head for safety in the south and offered a free shuttle bus service (BBC, 15 March 2012).

Since then, thousands of people have reportedly moved and families split up to send women and children to safer areas in the south-east, a situation reminiscent of the population movements from northern states provoked by the religious clashes in 2000 (AP, 19 March 2012; BBC, 15 March 2012; Business Day, 18 April 2012; The Economist, 14 and 23 Jan. 2012; VOA, 30 Jan. 2012). NEMA has warned that the displacement of some 17,000 farmers from the north could cause a significant fall in agricultural production and lead to a food crisis in the region (Africa Review, 1 April 2012; The Guardian, 27 March 2012). Thousands of migrants from Chad and Niger have also fled northern Nigeria for their countries of origin in recent months because of the violence (IRIN, 6 March 2012).

In a context of mass poverty, unemployment and inadequate law enforcement, Boko Haram has gained support by playing on people's frustrations and using religion to further its ends. Northern Nigeria is generally poorer than the rest of the country and residents complain of corruption, inequality and the government's failure to address problems. Muslims have also accused predominantly Christian southerners of monopolising oil revenues and government posts (Danjibo, 2009: 3; Ibeanu, 1999: 172; ICG, 2010: 10; Meredith, 2005: 586; Mustapha, 2007: 5; The Economist, 27 August 2011).

In March 2012, the International Committee of the Red Cross noted that although there is a situation of violence provoking casualties and displacement in Nigeria, it does not meet the criteria of an internal conflict (National Mirror, 22 March 2012). Article 3 of the 1949 Geneva Conventions and its commentary state that an armed conflict exists when the situation can be defined as "protracted armed violence", which can be assessed using two criteria - the organisation of the parties and the intensity of the violence (ICRC, 2008: 5; Vité, 2009: 76). The latter must have reached a level that distinguishes it from internal disturbances and tensions, such as riots or isolated and sporadic acts of violence (Vité, 2009: 76).

#### Niger Delta: A lull in the fighting between the government and MEND

Until 2009, most political violence in Nigeria occurred in the south, in the densely populated Niger Delta region which is the home of the country's oil and gas industry. Fighting between insurgents and government forces deployed to protect oil installations and personnel led to the death or forced displacement of thousands of civilians between 2004 and 2009 (IRIN, 22 May 2009). Militants claimed to be fighting for increased control of oil wealth by the local community, whose lands had been polluted and whose region remained one of the poorest and least developed parts of the country, despite its resources. Their campaign was directed against both the oil companies and the government (Falola, 2008: 235; Ibaba, 2011: 252 and 258; Ibeanu, 2006: 7 and 11; Madubuike, 2009: 3 and 11; Meredith 2005: 576; The Economist, 12 Nov. 2009).

In October 2009, the Movement for the Emancipation of the Niger Delta (MEND), an umbrella group formed in 2005 to represent a number of militant factions, declared an indefinite ceasefire that brought relative peace to the region following a presidential amnesty. By the end of 2010, however, fighting had resumed, causing the destruction of at least 120 homes and the deaths of several civilians. In January 2011, MEND called off its ceasefire (Al, Annual Report 2011; IRIN, 25 Nov. 2011; The Economist, 12 Nov. 2009 and 14 Jan. 2012). The amnesty programme has been described as inadequate in addressing the roots of the problem, namely under-development and poor governance (Ibaba, 2011: 64).

It is not known whether IDPs have achieved durable solutions. A government report noted that Edo state was hosting some 250,000 people displaced from the Niger Delta as of January 2011 (GoN, 2011: 74).

#### 3. Displacement caused by forced evictions

More than two million urban Nigerians, particularly slum-dwellers and other marginalised people, have been forcibly evicted from their homes since 2000, most notably in Lagos, Abuja and Port Harcourt. Government-sanctioned evictions carried out in the name of security and urban renewal programmes have taken place without adequate consultation, notice, compensation or offers of alternative accommodation. In addition to breaching victims' right to adequate housing, forced evictions, amounting to arbitrary displacement, and often lead to violations of other human rights, such as the right to health care, education and livelihood opportunities (Al, 2011, Agenda: 39). Forced evictions have led to intra-urban displacement and left thousands of people homeless (Al, 26 Aug. 2011; Al, 2011, Agenda: 38; Mberu, 2010; USDoS, 2011: 35-36).

#### National and international response

The national and international response to internal displacement in Nigeria has generally been inadequate. There has, however, been increased interest on various levels since mid-2011 which could stimulate the development of a suitable and comprehensive approach.

At the national level, steps have been taken to finalise a national IDP policy, in the planning since 2003, as well as a draft law to amend the NCFR mandate for approval by the Federal Executive Council. Nigeria ratified the legally-binding Kampala Convention in April 2012, signed on 23 October 2009, and was expected to deposit its ratification instrument at the African Union in the following weeks (IRIN, 26 October 2009; NCFR, 2012).

In July 2011, Abuja hosted the first Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) ministerial conference on humanitarian assistance and internal displacement. Participants committed to the adoption of adequate measures to prevent forced displacement, and to formulating coherent national IDP policies and legal and institutional frameworks which fully reflect the content and spirit of the Kampala Convention (ECOWAS, 2011).

International humanitarian organisations have had limited presence in the country, but in recent months the UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) has established a presence in Abuja and the UN Refugee Agency (UNHCR) has shown increased concern about internal displacement in Nigeria.

#### National response

In the absence of a clear policy, legal framework or comprehensive approach, efforts to prevent displacement, mitigate its effects and minimise its duration have been insufficient.

The response to displacement, generally included under disaster management mechanisms, has varied from state to state and has been uncoordinated and ad-hoc, leading to both shortfalls and duplication (USDoS, 2011: 35; CISLAC/IDMC, 2011). When support is provided, the tendency has been to focus on the provision of assistance and to neglect protection needs. Weaknesses exist in the operations of NEMA and NCFR, the two main government bodies responsible for the response to internal displacement, in part because their budgets are too small (Egwu, 2011: 3; USDoS, 2011: 35).

Local governments have prime responsibility for ensuring an adequate response to IDPs' needs, with State Emergency Management Agencies (SEMAs) – which have varying capacity - expected to step in when local authorities are unable to cope. Assistance from the federal government, through NEMA, is only requested, and is subject to presidential approval, when the required response is beyond the capacity of both local and state authorities. NEMA is mandated to coordinate disaster management throughout the country and to respond to the immediate needs of displaced populations as necessary, but it has no specific policy on IDPs. It operates offices in

the six geopolitical zones of the country, for implementation of policy, coordination and communication purposes (NEMA, June 2009; NEMA, 30 July 2009; Economic Confidential, 2010; News Agency of Nigeria, 16 April 2012). IDP camps, described as a last and temporary resort, are usually run by NEMA or SEMAs and the Nigerian Red Cross, in conjunction with relevant agencies (Leadership, 15 April 2012; NEMA, National Contingency Plan 2011-2012; e-mail exchange NRC, May 2012).

NCFR has been mandated to manage internal displacement since 2002, but has no field presence. It focuses on post-emergency situations and long-term programmes aimed at achieving durable solutions for IDPs. If necessary, it assists NEMA with camp management, and has a dedicated unit working on internal displacement. It has developed a comprehensive action plan for resettlement, reconciliation, reconstruction and reintegration, but still needs to apply it on the ground.

The National Human Rights Commission and the Institute of Peace and Conflict Resolution also have responsibilities with respect to the protection of IDPs' rights and the prevention and resolution of conflict. Other government agencies and the military are brought in on a case-by-case basis.

Given that the response from government agencies is insufficient and slow as a result of bureaucracy or the competing interests of ruling elites, the Nigerian Red Cross, civil society organisations and faith-based groups have been providing immediate relief and assistance on an ad-hoc basis in the aftermath of violence (Okpeh, 2008: p. 63-64). Assistance provided by faith-based groups is, however, often determined by IDPs' religion, and this may actually make religious tensions worse. Assistance also tends to be short-term and does not necessarily contribute to the longer-term reconstruction of lives and livelihoods (Best, 2011: 99; Orji, 2011: 474 and 486).

Overall, the response tends to target people in camps, even though the majority of IDPs are hosted by relatives or local communities, who bear most of the burden of assisting them (Ibeanu, 1999: 176; Best, 2011: 65).

In some cases, authorities have supported the resettlement of IDPs. In July 2010 the governor of Bauchi state announced that more than 30,000 IDPs displaced from Plateau state some six months earlier had been resettled with financial assistance from the state (Nigerian Tribune, 2 July 2010). In January 2011, the same authorities reported that they had allocated 748 plots of land to IDPs (Leadership, 24 Jan. 2011).

#### International response

Nigeria's donors have generally favoured development assistance over humanitarian programmes. The US Agency for International Development (USAID) is the largest and most influential bilateral donor, followed by Britain's Department for International Development (DfID). Most multilateral funding has been channelled through the UN Development Programme, the World Bank and the European Union. Donors' focus has been largely on providing support to tackle poverty through promoting good governance, democratisation, rule of law and human rights (Amundsen, 2010: xii and 36). The cluster approach has not been adopted in Nigeria. The UN Country Team coordinates the inter-agency response through its Emergency Preparedness Working Group.

#### CAUSES AND BACKGROUND

# **Background**

#### Ethnicity, identity, indigenes and "settlers"

With 162.5 million inhabitants, Nigeria is Africa's largest country. Its population is of a notable diversity. In addition to the three major ethnic groups, the Hausa-Fulani, Yoruba and Igbo, representing more than half of the population, there are between 250 and 400 ethnic groups, depending on the criteria used, speaking some 500 indigenous languages (Aluaigba, 2009: 5; HRW, 2009: 3; Ibeanu, 2001; Mustapha, 2007: 3-4). Many of these groups had no meaningful relationship with one another before being regrouped into a colony by the British government in 1914. Existing pre-colonial relationships were marked with tension in some areas, notably in the Nigeria's central Middle Belt, an area that comprises Kwara, Niger, Kogi, Nassarawa, Benue, Plateau, Taraba and Adamawa and States, as well as southern Bauchi, southern Zaria and southern Kaduna (HRW, 2006: 7).

The tripodal ethnic structure has proven both unstable and conflictual (Mustapha, 2007: 3). The predominantly Muslim Hausa-Fulani are the dominant ethnic group in the northern part of the country. The Nupe, Tiv and Karuni are also important groups in the area. In the southeast, the mostly Catholic Igbo are the largest ethnic group. The Efik, Ibibio and Ijaw also represent an important part of the population. The Yoruba, half of whom are Christian and the other half Muslim, are mostly living in the southwest (USDoS, 2000).

Religious differences in Nigeria have often been used for "stereotyping and demonising opponents." It has provided a "legitimising framework for violence that would otherwise be considered unacceptable." It has been argued that "religion is a cover for or a surface aspect of deeper antagonisms and that the factors causing and driving the conflicts transcend it to include a complex mix of history, political, economic, ethnic and other factors." (ICG, 2010: 21)

Ethnicity and genealogy serve as the basis to determine if people are indigenes or not to their location of residence. Indigenes are people who can trace their roots back to the community who originally settled in a given location. Anyone who cannot do so is considered a non-indigene, a settler or an "allogene" (HRW, 2006: 1).

The principle behind the concept of "indigenity" was to protect to guarantee ethnic parity in education and employment opportunities and to preserve traditional ways of life of Nigeria's numerous minority groups. However, with increasing levels of poverty and unemployment, it has turned into a powerful mean of exclusion allowing the denial of access to already limited resources and opportunities to non-indigenes, notably in terms of education, land ownership, participation in political affairs and employment by the state, one of the main employers (AI, 2011, Agenda: 31; HRW 2006: 10 and 2009: 3).

The difference between the two groups entails mainly that the indigenes are regarded within the local community as the rightful holders of certain traditional, political and economic rights that settlers do not have. The concept took root in the 1979 Constitution and although not expressly supported in the 1999 one, it has continued to be used as a practice of Nigerian federalism As opposed to the one from 1979, the 1999 Constitution does not define what it means to be an indigene of a state or whether length of residence in another state qualifies for the acquisition of such a status elsewhere.

Even though article 42 of the 1999 Constitution prohibits discrimination based on ethnicity or place of origin, non-indigenes are, in many respects, treated like citizens of a foreign country, which erodes the value of national citizenship (Aluaigba, 2009: 11; HRW, 2006: 1-2). Over a million Nigerians are labelled as non-indigenes in the place where they live, while an increasing number of people are unable to prove that they are indigenes to any state. Such rise results from the proliferation of states and local government areas (Al, 2011, Agenda: 31; HRW 2006: 10).

#### Key online documents:

Aluaigba, Moses T (2009). "The Tiv-Jukun Ethnic Conflict and the Citizenship Question in Nigeria." Paper presented at the IFRA Conference on Conflict and Violence in Nigeria, Ahmadu Bello University, Zaria, http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/Moses\_T-\_ALUAIGBA\_-\_The\_Tiv-Jukun\_Ethnic\_Conflict\_and\_the\_Citizenship\_Question\_in\_Nigeria.pdf

HRW (2006). "They Do Not Own This Place"; Government Discrimination against "Non-Indigenes" in Nigeria. http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/nigeria0406webwcover.pdf

Isa-Odidi, Nabila (2004). "Ethnic Conflict in Plateau State: The Need to Eliminate the Indigene/Settler Dichotomy in Nigeria." Human Rights Brief, Washington College of Law, <a href="http://www.wcl.american.edu/hrbrief/12/1isaodidi.cfm">http://www.wcl.american.edu/hrbrief/12/1isaodidi.cfm</a>

#### **Elections and Political system**

Nigeria is currently experiencing its longest period of civilian rule since its independence, in 1960. The April 2011 elections, one of the bloodiest ever, were the fourth ones since the return to civilian rule in 1999. They led to the re-election of incumbent Goodluck Jonathan, a southerner from the ruling People's Democratic Party. "Zoning", an unwritten internal PDP power-sharing rule that envisages the swapping of presidential power between the north and the south every two terms, should have led to the election of a northerner (HRW, 16 May 2011).

Post-election protests by supporters of the main opposition candidate, Muhammadu Buhari, a northerner from the Congress for Progressive Change, degenerated into violent riots and sectarian strife in a third of Nigeria's 36 states. More than one thousand people died and over 65,000 people were displaced in the northern states of Bauchi, Kaduna, Kano, Niger, Gombe and Sokoto (Albert, 2011: 113; Chouin, 2011: 63; HRW, 16 May 2011; ICG, 2011: 1). In spite of attempts to prevent communal divisions through zoning, Nigerian elections have regularly been marred by widespread inter-communal violence (Al, 2011, Agenda: 32; Enweremadu, 2011: 121-22; ICG, 2011: 1 and 7; Meredith 2005: 194).

Human Rights Watch (2006: 8) underlines that "Nigerian politics has always revolved around an obsession with the difficult task of forging a nation out of all of Nigeria's complex diversity while ensuring that no ethnic group, religion or geographical region could ever come to dominate the rest of the country. Nigeria has had four constitutions since independence, and each of them has been crafted around core provisions designed to strike the finest possible balance in the allocation of political power and government resources."

The government of Nigeria is divided in three layers: the federal government, the government of each of the 36 states, and local government councils governing the country's 774 Local Government Areas (LGAs). Various decentralisations programmes since the mid-1970s have led to a proliferation of LGAs, necessitating the redrawing of existing local boundaries (OMCT, 2002: 12-13). Such process has created inter-communal tensions and reopened a number of old inter-communal rivalries (Ibeanu, 1999: 172).

The Constitution provides for all three levels of government to be run by popularly elected administrations. A parallel system of traditional governance including Chieftaincies and Emirates

also exists throughout the country. Traditional leaders generally represent only their own ethnic communities. They are recognized by the government, but are not elected in the same manner as government officials: they are selected according to the traditions of their community. While they are not holding formal positions in the government, they wield considerable political influence, especially at the local level.

#### Key online documents:

Al (2011). "Nigeria: Human Rights Agenda 2011-2015." London: Amnesty International, http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/AFR44/014/2011/en/5a1b7540-3afc-43ec-978c-3eab4c10d9ff/afr440142011en.pdf

Enweremadu, David U (2011). "De L'abus Endémique À L'exemplarité Électorale?" *Afrique contemporaine* 3, no. 239: 119-32, www.cairn.info/revue-afrique-contemporaine-2011-3-page-119.htm

ICG (2011). "Lessons from Nigeria's 2011 Elections." In *Africa Briefing*. Abuja, Dakar, Brussels, http://www.crisisgroup.org/~/media/Files/africa/west-africa/nigeria/B81%20-%20Lessons%20from%20Nigeras%202011%20Elections.pdf

#### Inequity, poverty and economy

Despite Nigeria's vast resources, more than half of its population is considered poor. Nearly 65 % the country's population lives with less than US\$ 1,25 a day (UNDP, 2011). The latest Human Development Report on Nigeria (2008-2009) highlights that the country is one of those with the highest inequality levels in the world. Overall inequality is visible in the widening income gap and access to economic and social opportunities between genders; growing inequality between and within rural and urban populations; between ethnic groups; and widening gaps between the federating units/economies (Diprose, 2008: 27; UNDP, 2009).

Such a situation points to corruption, the absence or failure of redistribution policies, significant institutional shortcomings in the provision of basic services, as well as many years of mismanagement of public resources, among many other causes. A variety of re-distribution programmes woven around poverty reduction and women's empowerment have been implemented to tackle inequality, but improvements have been slow in coming.

Nigeria's top two primary products, agriculture and oil, continue to dominate both sectoral contributions to GDP and, in the latter case, exports. Agriculture continues to account for more than 50 per cent of employment while the oil sector accounts for over 95 per cent of foreign exchange earnings and 80 per cent of government revenue.

#### Key online document:

Diprose, Rachael, and Ukoha Ukiwo, 2008. "Decentralisation and Conflict Management in Indonesia and Nigeria." In *CRISE Working Paper*. Oxford: Centre for Research on Inequality, Human Security and Ethnicity, www.crise.ox.ac.uk/pubs/workingpaper49.pdf

UNDP (2009). *Human Development Report Nigeria* 2008 – 2009; *Achieving growth with equity*. http://hdr.undp.org/en/reports/national/africa/nigeria/NHDR\_Nigeria\_2008-2009.pdf

#### Conflict prevention and resolution

Formal and traditional mechanisms to prevent and resolve conflict have often failed at addressing the roots of the problems, thus at maintaining and restoring durable social concord. Intercommunal tensions have frequently become protracted and the response to politically motivated violence has often focussed on short-term solutions. The response has mostly been at the community-level and security and legal level (ICG, 2010: 24).

Prevention through the police has not been successful, partly because it suffers from poor coordination and gathering and use of intelligence (ICG, 2010: 26). The formal response to the eruption of violence has often been slow, even though the government can call on an additional mobile police force and the army to restore law and order. Thus, violence has time to escalate (Best, 2011: 72). In some instances, such as in Benue state in 2001, the involvement of the military and the police has had disastrous consequences. In retaliation to the killing of several military, the forces sacked ten villages and towns, reportedly killing hundreds of civilians and destroying homes, shops, public buildings and other property. In other cases, such as in Jos, in 2001, the military played a positive role in preventing the conflict from degenerating further (Okpeh, 2008: p. 64-65).

In their study on the role of traditional authorities in conflict prevention and mediation in Nigeria, Blench and al. recall that during colonial era, the response to riots and civil disturbances was usually military. Policy changes were top-down and decided by colonial authorities. Responses to civil disorder leading to losses of lives and properties in the years that followed independence have been different: in several instances, a Commission of Enquiry was established, worked for a few years and produced recommendations that were not followed. From 1995, conflict resolution became a popular topic and the Government was encouraged to create an Institute for Peace and Conflict resolution, which has been made ineffective due internal political disputes (Blench, 2006: 9).

In parts of the country, traditional authorities and rulers play a significant role in community coherence and traditional justice systems. In some areas, especially in the North and Middle Belt, they have been more effective in conflict resolution than official mechanisms. Due to their familiarity with different sections of the community, they have also been able to take pre-emptive action, while the government has a tendency to be reactive (Blench, 2006: i). Their role is most prominent in settling family matters, cases of witchcraft, land disputes and religious disputes, notably because taking such cases to the courts and the police is more expensive and can turn them into protracted disputes "with no greater chances that a fair judgement will be reached" (Blench, 2006: 73).

However, the creation of new chieftaincies to reinforce ethnic agendas or reward political donors have undermined the power and legitimacy of traditional rulers and councils (Blench, 2006: i and iii).

#### Key online document:

Blench, Roger, et al. (2006). *The Role of Traditional Rulers in Conflict Prevention and Mediation in Nigeria.* Cambridge: Prepared for DFID, Nigeria, <a href="http://www.rogerblench.info/Development/Nigeria/Conflict%20resolution/Final%20Report%20TRs%20September%2006.pdf">http://www.rogerblench.info/Development/Nigeria/Conflict%20resolution/Final%20Report%20TRs%20September%2006.pdf</a>

ICG, 2010. "Northern Nigeria: Background to Conflict." In *Africa Report*, http://www.crisisgroup.org/~/media/Files/africa/west-africa/nigeria/168%20Northern%20Nigeria%20-%20Background%20to%20Conflict.pdf

An annotated bibliography on conflict in Nigeria can be found at: http://www.gsdrc.org/docs/open/HD702.pdf

# **Causes of displacement**

#### Displacement caused by inter-communal conflict

Protracted inter-communal conflicts fuelled by religious, regional or ethnic divisions regularly lead to death and displacement throughout the country, (Aluaigba, 2009: 5; HRW, 2008: 3; Ibeanu, 1999; Mustapha, 2007: 3-4). The rough overlap of ethnicity, religion and regional divisions has allowed the reinterpretation of inter-communal violence along religious lines (*c.f., section 1.1.1*). According to Je'aadayibe (2008: 156), crisis induced by religious divisions have produced the greater numbers of IDPs in Nigeria.

In 1999, Zamfara state adopted Sharia law as its only legal system. Several other northern states voiced their will to follow suit, and ten did. This led to a series of uprisings and violent clashes between Christians and Muslims in the city of Kaduna, in February 2000. Entire neighbourhoods were 'religiously cleansed' and many Igbo, generally Christian, were killed. As thousands of people fled the far north, religious tensions increased in other areas. In reprisal, Igbo groups in the south killed hundreds of generally Muslim Hausa migrants from the north (Meredith 2005: 586-87).

In 2001, Jos, the formerly peaceful capital of the Plateau state that sits on the dividing line between the largely Muslim north and Christian south, was engulfed in religious clashes that killed more than one thousand and displaced thousands more (Best, 2011: 19; HRW, 2006: 43). Many settled in temporary camps or permanently in neighbouring Bauchi state (Blench, 2003: 10). Since then, deadly clashes leading to displacement have regularly flared up, as the authorities have failed to take adequate measures to prevent violence and protect people (Al, 2011, Agenda: 30; Orji, 2011: 479; The Economist, 13 April 2010). In 2010, up to 30,000 people fled clashes near Jos (USDoS, 2011: 35).

Tensions between communities have been aggravated by prejudicial government policies that relegate millions of Nigerians to second-class citizens by discriminating against "allogenes" or "settlers" who cannot trace their roots back to the original inhabitants of an area (*c.f.*, section 1.1.1; CERD, 2010; HRW, 2006: 2 and 2009: 3). In recent years, some of the bloodiest conflicts have pitted indigenes against "settlers" (Egwu, 2011: 8; HRW, 2006: 33; Ladan, 2011: 8).

In general, as inter-group conflict is often related to competition over scarce resources, there tends to be a greater incidence of conflict in densely population areas and where the land is valued for farming (Okpeh, 2008: 60).

#### Key online documents:

#### A general overview of internal displacement immediately after the return to civilian rule:

Ibeanu, Okechukwu (1999). "Exiles Intheir Own Home: Conflicts and Internal Population Displacement in Nigeria." *Journal of Refugee Studies* 12, no. 2.

#### On citizenship and indigenes / settlers tensions:

Aluaigba, Moses T (2009). "The Tiv-Jukun Ethnic Conflict and the Citizenship Question in Nigeria." Paper presented at the IFRA Conference on Conflict and Violence in Nigeria, Ahmadu Bello University, Zaria, http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/Moses\_T-\_ALUAIGBA\_-\_The\_Tiv-Jukun\_Ethnic\_Conflict\_and\_the\_Citizenship\_Question\_in\_Nigeria.pdf.

HRW (2006). "They Do Not Own This Place"; Government Discrimination against "Non-Indigenes" in Nigeria. http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/nigeria0406webwcover.pdf

#### On ethnic and religious tensions:

Je'adayibe, Gwamna Dogara, and Amango Kudu. "Sliding Towards Armageddon: Revisiting Ethno-Religious Crises in Nigeria." *Theological College of Northern Nigeria Bulletin*, no. 52 (2010), http://www.tcnn.org/index\_files/rb52.gwamna.html.

Best, Shedrack Gaya, and Carole Rakodi (2011). "Violent Conflict and Its Aftermath in Jos and Kano, Nigeria: What Is the Role of Religion?" In *Workin Paper*: Religions and Development Research

Programme.

http://www.religionsanddevelopment.org/files/resourcesmodule/@random454f80f60b3f4/1330691 working paper 69.pdf

#### Displacement caused by violence carried out in the name of political objectives

Since 2009, most violence carried out in the name of political objectives has been perpetrated by the Islamist group Boko Haram in northern and central Nigeria. It has led to significant displacement. Prior to 2009, political violence was mostly in the form of fighting between government forces protecting oil installations in the Niger Delta and militants demanding more local control over resources. While the level of such violence has decreased, fighting still occurs periodically in the Delta.

#### Northern and central Nigeria: Boko Haram attacks and anti-insurgency operations

Since 2009, increasingly frequent and sophisticated attacks and bombings attributed to Boko Haram and ensuing heavy-handed anti-insurgency operations by the police and military forces have caused death, destruction of property and forced thousands to flee (AI, 24 Jan. 2012; IRIN, 18 July 2011; SERAC, 12 Aug. 2011). According to Human Rights Watch, violence by the sect has claimed more than 1,000 lives since 2010 (HRW, 7 March 2012).

The group, which has been growing in ambition and capability, initially targeted the northern states, but started expanding beyond its home grounds in 2010, bombing buildings in the central city of Jos. In 2011, it pushed farther south to the capital, Abuja, with the bombing of police and UN headquarters (Shaka, 2011: 3; The Economist, 27 Aug. 2011, 8 Nov. 2011, 23 and 28 Jan. 2012). At first, Boko Haram mostly attacked police and government facilities, as well as churches, but started hitting bars and beer gardens in June 2011 and schools in February 2012 (Al, 24 Jan. 2012; HRW, March 2012).

In late December 2011, a series of strikes that killed more than a hundred people and displaced some 90,000 prompted the president to declare a state of emergency in large parts of the North and to send thousands of troops to fight the group (ICG, 2 Jan. 2012; The Economist, 14 and 23 Jan. 2012; Reuters, 9 April 2012). In January 2012, after Boko Haram issued a warning to Christians living in the Hausa-dominated north to leave or face retribution, south-eastern Igbo leaders called on Igbo families to head south for safety, offering a free bus shuttle.

Since then, several media reported that thousands of people have moved and that several families had split to send women and children to safer areas in the South-East (AP, 19 March 2012; BBC, 15 March 2012; Business Day, 18 April 2012; The Economist, 14 and 23 Jan. 2012; VOA, 30 Jan. 2012). NEMA has warned that the displacement of some 17,000 farmers could lead to a food crisis, by severely impeding agriculture (Africa Review, 1 April 2012; The Guardian, 27

March 2012). In addition, thousands of migrants from Chad and Niger have returned to their country of origin (IRIN, 6 March 2012).

Boko Haram, which in Hausa means "Western education is forbidden", was founded a decade ago in the north-eastern city of Maiduguri. It rose to prominence in 2009 after launching an insurgency against the government in several northern states, in which more than 800 people were killed (Danjibo, 2009: 10; HRW, March 2012; Je'adayibe, 2010; Reuters, 9 April 2012). It campaigns for the strict implementation of Sharia, an ideology that is not widely supported in a country where Islam tends to be moderate (IRIN, 20 Jan. 2012; The Economist, 27 Aug. 2011).

In a context of mass poverty, unemployment and inadequate law enforcement, Boko Haram has gained support by playing on people's frustrations and using religion to further its ends. Northern Nigeria is generally poorer than the rest of the country and residents complain of corruption, inequality and the government's failure to address problems. Muslims have also accused predominantly Christian southerners of monopolising oil revenues and government posts (Danjibo, 2009: 3; Ibeanu, 1999: 172; ICG, 2010: 10; Meredith, 2005: 586; Mustapha, 2007: 5; The Economist, 27 August 2011).

While some analysts and the Nigerian authorities claim that international terrorist networks support Boko Haram, northern religious and political leaders believe the group is mostly a mix of criminal opportunists and disgruntled politicians (ICG, 2010: 19; The Economist, 14 Jan. 2012). In April 2012, AFP and RFI reported that members of Boko Haram were present in Tuareg-held northern Mali and supporting the rebellion (AFP, 9 April 2012; RFI, 10 April 2012).

In March 2012, the International Committee of Red Cross indicated that even though there is a situation of violence which provokes casualty and displacement in Nigeria, it did not meet the criteria of an internal conflict (National Mirror, 22 March 2012). Article 3 common to the 1949 Geneva Conventions and its commentary assume that an armed conflict exists when the situation can be defined as "protracted armed violence", which can be assessed against two criteria: the organization of the parties and the intensity of the violence (ICRC, 2008: 5; Vité, 2009: 76). The later must have reached a level that distinguishes it from situations of internal disturbances and tensions, such as riots or isolated and sporadic acts of violence (Vité, 2009: 76).

#### Key online documents:

Al (2012). "Nigeria: Authorities Must Protect Population against Deadly Attacks." http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/AFR44/003/2012/en/25d7ee4a-2599-4c78-8fde-f402a18fa889/afr440032012en.html

ACLED (2012). "Conflict Trends: Real-Time Analysis of African Political Violence." http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/Conflict\_Trends\_Report\_April\_2012.pdf

Council on Foreign Relations (2011). "Boko Haram Backgrounder", http://www.cfr.org/africa/boko-haram/p25739

HRW (2012). "Nigeria: Boko Haram Targeting Schools; Attacks Threaten Children, Undermine Right to Education." http://www.hrw.org/news/2012/03/07/nigeria-boko-haram-targeting-schools

"Nigeria; the Spreading Northern Insurgency; the Government Must Think Hard About How to Tackle an Islamist Uprising That May Have Less to Do with Religion Than the Rebels Claim." *The Economist*, 14 Jan. 2012, http://www.economist.com/node/21542764

#### Niger Delta: A lull in the fighting between the government and the MEND

Until 2009, most political violence in Nigeria occurred in the South, in the densely populated Niger Delta, the home of the country's oil and gas industry. Ongoing fighting between government forces, deployed to protect oil installations and personnel, and insurgents led to the death and forced displacement of thousands of civilians between 2004 and 2009 (IRIN, 22 May 2009).

Militants claimed to be fighting for increased control of oil wealth by the local community, whose lands had been polluted by oil companies and whose region remained one of the poorest, least developed parts of Nigeria, despite its resources. Their resistance was directed at the companies, but also at the government (Falola, 2008: 235; Ibaba, 2011: 252 and 258; Ibeanu, 2006: 7 and 11; Madubuike, 2009: 3 and 11; Meredith 2005: 576; The Economist, 12 Nov. 2009).

In October 2009, the Movement for the Emancipation of the Niger Delta (MEND), an umbrella group representing a number of militant factions created in 2005, declared an indefinite ceasefire that brought relative peace to the region, following a presidential amnesty. However, by the end of 2010, fighting had resumed in Delta State, causing the destruction of at least 120 homes and the death of several civilians. In January 2011, MEND called off its ceasefire and violence has increased in intensity since the beginning of 2012 (Al, Annual Report 2011; IRIN, 25 Nov. 2011; The Economist, 12 Nov. 2009 and 14 Jan. 2012). The amnesty programme has been described as inadequate in addressing the roots of the problem, namely under-development and poor governance (Ibaba, 2011: 64; Newson, 2011).

It is unknown whether people displaced by the violence have achieved durable solutions. A report by the Government of Nigeria noted that Edo State hosted some 250,000 people displaced from the Niger Delta, as of January 2011 (GoN, 2011: 74).

#### Key online documents:

lbaba, Samuel Ibaba (2011). "Amnesty and peace-Building in the Niger Delta: Addressing the frustration-Aggression trap " *Africana*, no. Special Issue: The Niger Delta (): 238-71, http://www.africanajournal.org/PDF/vol5no1/Vol5No1 10 Ibaba.pdf

Madubuike, Solomon C (2009). "Ethnic Conflicts: Social Identity and Resource Control Agitations in the Niger Delta." In *IFRA Conference on Conflict and Violence in Nigeria*, edited by Clément Boutillier, 14. Ahmadu Bello University, Zaria: Institute for Research in Africa, http://www.ifranigeria.org/spip.php?article156.

Newsom, Chris (2011). "Conflict in the Niger Delta; More Than a Local Affair", United States Institute of Peace, http://www.usip.org/files/resources/Conflict Niger Delta.pdf

The Economist (12 Nov. 2009). "Nigeria; Hints of a New Chapter; as Militants Lay Down Their Arms in the Niger Delta, the Battle Is on to Tackle Nigeria's Other Massive IIIs ", http://www.economist.com/node/14843563.

#### Displacement caused by forced evictions

More than two million Nigerians, especially slum-dwellers and marginalized people, have been forcefully evicted from their homes in urban areas, notably in Lagos, Abuja and Port Harcourt, since 2000. The Social and Economic Rights Action Center (SERAC), the Centre on Housing Rights and Evictions (COHRE) and Amnesty International (Agenda 2011: 38) have reported that in Lagos, forced evictions were taking place on an almost weekly basis between May and July 2008; in Abuja, some 800,000 people were forcibly removed from their house between 2003 and 2007 and hundreds more in June 2011; and in Port Harcourt Waterfronts, the demolition of informal led to the eviction of up to 17,000 people.

The COHRE has stressed that "women, children, youth, older persons, indigenous people, ethnic and other minorities, and other vulnerable individuals and groups all suffer disproportionately from the practice of forced eviction. Women in all groups are especially vulnerable given the extent of statutory and other forms of discrimination which often apply in relation to property rights (including home ownership) or rights of access to property or accommodation, and their particular

vulnerability to acts of violence and sexual abuse when they are rendered homeless." (COHRE, 2008: 108).

Forced evictions have taken place without adequate consultation, notice and compensation or alternative accommodation, in violation of people's right to adequate housing. Government-sanctioned evictions, carried out in the name of security and urban renewal programmes, have led to intra-urban displacement and left thousands of people homeless (Al, 26 Aug. 2011; Al, 2011, Agenda: 38; Mberu, 2010; USDoS, 2011: 35-36).

In addition to breaching the right to adequate housing, forced evictions often lead to violations of other human rights, such as the right to health-care, to education or to earn a living (Al, 2011, Agenda: 39).

The UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights has emphasized in its general comment No. 7 that evictions may be carried out only as a last resort, once all other feasible alternatives have been explored and all procedural protections are in place, including an opportunity for genuine consultation with those affected; adequate notice for affected persons prior to the date of eviction; information on the proposed evictions, and, where applicable, on the alternative purpose for which the land or housing is to be used. Where those affected are unable to provide for themselves, states must take appropriate measures to ensure that adequate alternative housing, resettlement or access to productive land is available. When evictions are carried, they should not result in homelessness and vulnerability to human rights violations. The use of force should be avoided and in cases where it is used, it should not be disproportionate.

#### Key online documents:

Amnesty International (2011). "Nigeria: Human Rights Agenda 2011-2015." London: Amnesty International, http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/AFR44/014/2011/en/5a1b7540-3afc-43ec-978c-3eab4c10d9ff/afr440142011en.pdf

Centre on Housing Rights and Evictions (COHRE, 2008). The Myth of the Abuja Master Plan: Forced evictions as urban planning in Abuja, Nigeria, http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/A48C369A8401D54BC125744A003B52F5-Full report.pdf

Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (1997). The right to adequate housing: forced evictions; CESCR General comment 7. http://www.unhchr.ch/tbs/doc.nsf/(Symbol)/959f71e476284596802564c3005d8d50?Opendocume nt

#### Displacement induced by natural disaster

In 2009 and 2010, Nigeria ranked 12th and 11th amongst countries with the highest reported levels of displacement by sudden-onset disasters worldwide, according to IDMC's global data. Flooding and soil erosion in the states along the Niger River and its tributaries, River Katsina Ala and River Benue regularly cause internal displacement. About a million people living in the low-lying plains of the River Niger are considered at risk (Chinedu, 2008: 37; USDoS, 2011: 35).

According to the National Emergency Management Agency, floods and storms displaced thousands of people in 2011 and up to two million people in 2010, mainly in Jigawa, Sokoto and Kebbi States (NEMA, National Contingency Plan 2011-2012; BBC, 31 Aug. 2011; Sunday Tribune, 15 May 2011; Vanguard, 7 April 2012). The 2010 floods where notably triggered by the opening of floodgates on the Challawa and Tiga dams by the authorities, following heavy rains (BBC, 24 Sept. 2010).

Floods displaced another 140,000 people in 2009 (Dartmouth Floods Observatory). Affected states included Zamfara, Kaduna, Niger, Benue, Adamawa, Nassarawa, Sokoto, Jigawa, and Abuja.

### Key online documents:

Chinedu, Ujah Oliver. "Internal Displacement in Nigeria." *Forced Migration Review*, no. 31 (2008): 37, http://www.fmreview.org/FMRpdfs/FMR31/37.pdf.

#### **IDP POPULATION FIGURES**

# Overview of displaced populations

#### Scope of displacement

The full scope of displacement in Nigeria is unknown (Egwu, 2011: 2). There is no reliable information on the number and the situation of IDPs, in part because of the complex displacement patterns, but also because of the state's limited capacity to collect data (Blench 2003: 8; Mberu, 2010; USDoS, 2011: 35).

Estimates provided by the government and non-governmental organizations are inconsistent, generally not disaggregated by age and sex, and often include only people who have sought refuge in temporary camps or shelters, such as schools, churches, police and army barracks (Best, 2011: 72 and 99; CISLAC / IDMC, 2011). Yet, most displaced people are hosted by relatives (Best, 2011: 65; Blench, 2003: 9; Ibeanu 1999: 162).

# Number and locations of IDPs, disaggregated by age and sex where data are available

#### Number and locations of IDPs

Provisional figures compiled by the Nigerian Red Cross indicate that almost 50,000 people have been displaced between January and May 2012 and have settled in temporary settlements and shelters (NRC by email, 22 May 2012).

Numbers reported by the Federal Ministry of Justice to the African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights tally to over 1.3 million people displaced by conflict and flooding, as of January 2011 (GoN, 2011: 75). However, a survey by the National Emergency Management Agency (NEMA) indicates that less than 400,000 people were displaced in October 2011, with some 74,000 living in camps (NEMA, 2011). Yet, in March 2012, the Chairman of the Board of the National Commission for Refugees (NCFR) indicated that a million people were displaced in the country (The Punch, 23 March 2012). In all cases, no information on the methodology used was provided.

The following are the most detailed available global figures on displacement caused by conflict or natural-disaster. They were included in the Federal Ministry of Justice's report to the African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights in 2011 (GoN, 2011: 75).

| Location    | Number of IDPs, as of Jan. 2011 | Causes of displacement |
|-------------|---------------------------------|------------------------|
| Akwa Ibom   | 200,000                         | Boundary conflicts     |
| Cross River | 115,000                         | Boundary Conflicts     |

| Ebonyi  | 80,000  | Boundary Conflicts                                 |
|---------|---------|--|
| Bauchi  | 45,000  | Spill over from Plateau crisis 2001-2010           |
| Kebbi   | 70,296  | Floods and international boundary conflict         |
| Jigawa  | 200,000 | Floods, 2006 & 2010 Religious and Ethnic Conflicts |
| Plateau | 250,000 | Religious and Ethnic Conflicts                     |
| Taraba  | 25,000  |  |
| Benue   | 48,000  | Tribal conflicts                                   |
| Gombe   | 15,000  | Spill over from Plateau Conflicts                  |
| Edo     | 250,000 | IDPs from Niger Delta                              |
| Borno   | 5,000   | Boko Haram cases                                   |
| Sokoto  | 35,000  | Floods victims                                     |

The report also indicates that Akwa Ibom, Cross River, Bayelsa and Edo are respectively home to 50,000, 325,000, 18,000 and 8,000 Bakassi returnees from the ICJ. This refers to the International Court of Justice's judgment on the dispute opposing Cameroon and Nigeria over the Bakassi peninsula. The 2002 ruling awarded the peninsula to Cameroon, based on an early 20th century colonial agreement between Britain and Germany. Before then, the peninsula was ruled by Nigeria and home to some 300,000 people considering themselves Nigerian. Following the judgment, thousands of people moved from the peninsula to Nigeria (BBC, 14 Aug. 2008, http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/africa/7559895.stm). It is unknown whether they have been able to locally integrate or resettle in another part of the country.

Known instances of internal displacement since the Dec. 2011 include:

- In late December, some 90,000 people fled Damaturu city in Yobe state following deadly attacks and clashes between the Islamic group Boko Haram and security forces, according to the NEMA (IRIN, 19 Jan. 2012).
- In January 2012, Boko Haram issued an ultimatum to Christians living in the north instructing them to leave the area. Since then, at least 2,000 people have found refuge in the south of the country (Vanguard, 2 January 2012; BBC, 15 March 2012). NEMA has also indicated that some 17,000 farmers had fled (Africa Review, 1 April 2012).
- On 9 January 2012, some 10,000 people were displaced in Benin city, in the southern Edo state, following attacks on Hausa residents (Sunday Nation, 10 Jan. 2012).
- In March 2012, renewed clashes over land access and ownership between Fulani herdsmen and Tiv peasants in Benue and Taraba states, central Nigeria, left several people dead and forced thousands to flee.

Fearing that the crisis would spill over several residents of neighbouring town in Nasarawa state sought refuge in a primary school that has been used as a temporary shelter by IDPs for several months (Daily Trust, 9 March 2012).

The National Emergency Management Agency (NEMA) reported that 3,605 people - 905 men, 1,499 women and 1,201 children -, had found refuge in four temporary camps in Utanga, in neighbouring Cross River State (Daily Sun, 11 April 2012). By the end of April, the governor

indicated that IDPs sheltered in camps had been returned to their state of origin, even though the NEMA had asked to the state government to allow time for proper coordination among the stakeholders and the state governments of Benue and Taraba (The Punch, 23 April 2012; Daily Trust, 23 April 2012).

#### IDP POPULATION MOVEMENTS AND PATTERNS

# Population movements and patterns of displacement

#### Patterns of displacement

No comprehensive information on population movements and the patterns of displacement is available. Non-governmental organisations and governmental actors typically indicate that flood-induced displacement is commonly of a temporary nature, while displacement induced by intercommunal conflicts tends to be of a longer duration. The demolition of houses to their very foundation, which has been a common occurrence during inter-communal conflicts, points towards lasting displacement, since such destruction is likely to prevent return (Je'adayibe, 2010). Je'adayibe (2008: 170-171) has underlined that such crises have led to population shifts in urban areas, in several instances, notably in Kaduna and Plateau states: Muslims and Christians have moved to neighbourhoods considered safe, *i.e.*, areas dominated by people of their religion and ethnicity.

Attacks by Boko Haram and counter-insurgency operations seem to provoke both temporary displacement and longer-term displacement. Many people appear to flee outbursts of violence and return to their homes once calm resumes (ITW ICRC, 19 April 2012). However, several medias have also reported that thousands of people have moved to safer areas in the South-East or in the North and that several families have split to send women and children away (AP, 19 March 2012; BBC, 15 March 2012; Business Day, 18 April 2012; The Economist, 14 and 23 Jan. 2012; VOA, 30 Jan. 2012). This could turn into lasting displacement. Business Day noted that, for the time being, there was no evidence that people who had left due to the insecurity had returned (Africa Review, 1 April 2012; The Guardian, 27 March 2012). In addition, thousands of migrants from Chad and Niger have returned to their country of origin because of the increasing violence (IRIN, 6 March 2012).

#### PHYSICAL SECURITY AND INTEGRITY

# Physical security and integrity of IDPs

#### Physical security and integrity of IDPs

In the absence of a functioning monitoring mechanism, no substantial information is available on the physical security, dignity and moral integrity of displaced populations. This is also true with respect to IDPs' liberty and freedom of movement.

One NGO interviewed by IDMC denounced the forced return of some 3,500 IDPs from Cross River to Benue and Taraba states, in violation with Principle 15 (d) of the GP. Fulani herdsmen fled to Cross River state following violent clashes with Tiv farmers over land access and ownership (*c.f.*, section 2.2). Yet, the Ministry of Information of Cross River state has presented the returns as voluntary and indicated that the conditions for a durable return were now in place (Giant Strides, April 2012).

Cases of physical aggression and sexual violence against IDPs, in some instances perpetrated by police force, have been reported to the National Human Rights Commission (ITW NHRC, 25 April 2012). Amnesty International and Human Rights Watch have repeatedly denounced the excessive use of force and extrajudicial killings by the Nigerian police force (AI, 2009; HRW, World Report 2011). Rapes of women and girls by the police and security forces in Nigeria have been described as endemic in a 2006 Amnesty International report. It noted that the vast majority of rapes are not reported and when they are, only a small number of cases result in convictions (AI, 28 Nov. 2006: 1, 3, 4, 28, 29).

It is generally acknowledged that when women are forced to flee their homes, they are further exposed to the risk of sexual violence or exploitation (The Refugee Council, 2009).

#### **BASIC NECESSITIES OF LIFE**

#### Basic necessities of life

In the absence of a functioning monitoring mechanism, no substantial information is available on the access to basic necessities of life by IDPs. However, it is generally acknowledged that the provision of assistance to IDPs is sporadic, often late and tends to target the minority who temporarily settles in inadequate camps and temporary shelters (ITW NHRC, 25 April 2012). Shortages of food and water and deficient hygiene and sanitary conditions in the camps have been reported in several instances, e.g., in Jos, in 2008 and 2010 (IRIN, 27 January 2010; IRIN, 4 December 2008), in Akwa Ibom state in 2008 (IFRC, 10 Nov. 2008).

The fact that the majority of IDPs is hosted by relatives and receive no humanitarian assistance means that already meagre resources have to be shared, which may lead to additional deprivation for IDPs and the host communities (ITW National Human Rights Commission, 25 April 2012, and Action Aid, 20 April 2012). Action Aid reports that in some instances, IDPs have resorted to begging.

Given that more than nearly 65 % the country's population lives with less than US\$ 1,25 a day, that the access to potable water is limited, and that health care is not free, it is unlikely that a majority of IDPs has an adequate access to essential food and potable water, basic shelter and housing, appropriate clothing and essential medical services and sanitation (GP 18; IFRC, 10 Nov. 2008; UNDP, 2011).

It is also impossible to assess whether IDPs with special needs, including the disabled and victims of sexual or other abuses, have access to appropriate services. Such services are sometimes provided by non-governmental organisations in temporary IDP camps, but not on a systematic basis (ITW ActionAid, 20 April 2012).

# PROPERTY, LIVELIHOODS, EDUCATION AND OTHER ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND CULTURAL RIGHTS

### **Property issues**

#### **Property issues**

In the absence of a functioning monitoring mechanism, no substantial information is available on the protection from arbitrary deprivation and restitution and compensation mechanisms (GP 21). However, it is known that displaced people have often lost their homes during conflicts, as the demolition of houses to their very foundation during inter-communal crisis has been a common occurrence (Je'adayibe, 2010). The National Human Rights Commission (NRHC) indicates that loss of property is one of the most common complaints voiced by IDPs (ITW NHRC, 25 April 2012).

In urban areas, government-sanctioned expulsions have been conducted without proper compensation mechanisms (*c.f.*, section 1.2.3). Thousands of people have been left homeless (Al, 26 Aug. 2011; Al, 2011, Agenda: 38; Mberu, 2010; USDoS, 2011: 35-36). In addition to breaching the right to adequate housing, forced evictions often lead to violations of other human rights, such as the right to health-care, education or to earn a living (Al, 2011, Agenda: 39).

#### Access to education and to livelihoods

#### **Education and to livelihoods**

IDPs' access to education has not been documented (GP 23). It is possible that when IDPs are displaced in the vicinity of their usual residence, children keep their access to school, when security allows it. It is not known if special measures have been taken by the authorities to ensure that schools resume their activities as soon as conditions permit. Media have occasionally reported that displaced children face challenges in accessing education. For example, in May 2012, in an article about people who remain displaced in Kaduna state a year after having fled the post-election violence, the daily Leadership quoted a mother stating that displaced children still had no access to education (Leadership, 5 May 2012).

IDPs' access to work and livelihood opportunities also remain undocumented (GP 22). The NHRC indicates that loss of livelihood and lack of means to pay for school fees are also a common complaint received from IDPs (ITW NHRC, 25 April 2012).

# FAMILY LIFE, PARTICIPATION, ACCESS TO JUSTICE, DOCUMENTATION, AND OTHER CIVIL AND POLITICAL RIGHTS

### Family life

#### Family life

In the absence of a functioning monitoring mechanism, no substantial information is available on the respect for IDPs' family life, tracing and reunification mechanisms (GP 16 and 17). The National Human Rights Commission indicates that no family tracing mechanism exists (ITW NHRC, 25 April 2012).

# Access to justice and political participation

#### Access to justice and political participation

It is also unknown whether IDPs experience specific problems in accessing justice and in obtaining or replacing necessary documents for the enjoyment and exercise of their legal rights (GP 20).

The authorities have not indicated that necessary means to allow IDPs to exercise their right to vote and participate in governmental and public affairs, such as transportation to poll stations and safety and security measures, have been established (GP 20). There was no monitoring of whether IDPs were prevented from voting in the subsequent state governor elections, but many were reportedly not planning returning to the villages where they were registered to vote, for fear of further violence.

# PROTECTION OF SPECIAL CATEGORIES OF IDPS (AGE, GENDER, DIVERSITY)

# **Special categories of IDPs**

#### Special categories of IDPs

In the absence of a functioning monitoring mechanism, no substantial information is available on measures taken to ensure that women and men, boy, girls and adolescents, older persons, physically and mentally disabled and indigenous people, minorities, peasants, pastoralists and other groups with a special dependency on and attachment to their lands are protected in an appropriate manner.

In its sixth periodic report on Nigeria, the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW, 2008: para 37-38) expressed concern "about the situation of internally displaced women, including women with disabilities, displaced by violence and conflict, particularly in view of their precarious living conditions in camps where thy are at increased risk of sexual and other forms of violence, and lack access to health care, education and economic opportunities." The Committee requested the adoption of a national policy on internal displacement that would address specific vulnerabilities of women and girls.

# DURABLE SOLUTIONS (RETURN, LOCAL INTEGRATION, SETTLEMENT ELSEWHERE IN THE COUNTRY)

#### **Durable solutions**

#### **Durable solutions**

Reporting on IDPs in its report to the African Commission on Human and Peoples' Rights in 2011, the Federal Ministry of Justice notably highlights the presence of 45,000 IDPs in Bauchi state, as a result of spillovers from Plateau crisis 2001-2010, and of 200,000 IDPs in Jigawa state, as a result of religious and ethnic conflicts in 2006 and 2010 (GoN, 2011: 75). This would point toward the absence of durable solution for substantial numbers of IDPs in the country.

The demolition of houses to their very foundation during inter-communal crisis has been a common occurrence. Such destruction is likely to prevent return and also points towards lasting displacement. Similarly, since 2010, several states have sent buses to crisis zones to "repatriate" indigenes (Je'adayibe, 2010).

In some cases, authorities have supported the resettlement of IDPs. In July 2010 the governor of Bauchi state announced that more than 30,000 IDPs displaced from Plateau state some six months earlier had been resettled with financial assistance from the state (Nigerian Tribune, 2 July 2010). In January 2011, the same authorities reported that they had allocated 748 plots of land to IDPs (Leadership, 24 Jan. 2011).

However, in the absence of a functioning monitoring mechanism, no substantial information is available on the protection from arbitrary dispossession and of the property left behind by IDPs (GP 21), on the establishment of conditions and the provision of means to allow the return, local integration or resettlement elsewhere in the country of IDPs (GP 28).

Similarly, the absence of discrimination against former IDPs who have achieved durable solutions remains undocumented, just as their recovery of property and possessions or just compensation when this is not possible (GP 29).

#### NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL RESPONSE

#### **Overview**

# International human rights and humanitarian law framework including references to the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement

International human rights and humanitarian law framework including references to the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement

Link to: http://treaties.un.org/Pages/Treaties.aspx?id=4&subid=A&lang=en

http://www.icrc.org/ihl.nsf/Pays?ReadForm&c=NG

http://www.africa-union.org/root/au/documents/treaties/treaties.htm

#### **Convention or Treaty**

#### Ratification/Accession

International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights 16.12.1966

International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights 16.12.1966
Convention on the Rights of the Child 20.11.1989

Optional Protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the involvement of children in armed conflict 25.05.2000

Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women

18.12.1979

Convention relating to the Status of Refugees 23.10.1967

Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees 02.05.1968

Convention against Torture and other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment 10.12.1984

International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination

07.03.1966

The 1949 Geneva Conventions on the protections of victims of armed conflicts

20.06.1961

Additional Protocol I to the four Geneva Conventions 10.10.1988

Additional Protocol II to the four Geneva Conventions 10.10.1988

Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide 09.12.1948

Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court

27.09.2001

International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families 18.12.1990

#### Regional instruments

OAU Convention governing the specific aspects of refugee problems in Africa

23.05.1986

African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights

22.06.1983

Ouagadougou Protocol creating an African Court on Human and Peoples' Rights

25.05.2004

Convention for the Protection and Assistance of IDPs in Africa

17.04.2012

References to the Guiding Principles in the national legislation: None

Other references to the Guiding Principles: Draft National IDP Policy (not yet available).

Availability of the Guiding Principles in local languages: None

**Training on the Guiding Principles:** 

**IDMC / CISLAC conference (2011):** The Abuja-based Civil Society Legislative Advocacy Centre (CISLAC) in partnership with the Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre / Norwegian Refugee Centre (IDMC/NRC) organized a two-day multi-stakeholders' conference on IDP protection and on the Kampala Convention. The Conference aimed at examining the plight of IDPs in Nigeria in the light of relevant international and domestic legal frameworks and designing a plan of action for its ratification and domestication, as well as identifying measures for attaining durable solutions to the challenges of internal displacements in Nigeria. The Conference was attended by some 75 participants from Civil Society and Faith-Based organisations, academia, international and national humanitarian organisations, relevant government institutions and media (CISLAC/IDMC, November 2011).

Date: 21-22 Nov. 2011

NRC training workshop (2003): The Global IDP Project of the Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC), in collaboration with the National Commission for Refugees (NCR), held a 3-day training workshop on the Guiding Principles in the city of Jos, the state capital of Plateau state. The workshop was part of a global NRC effort to disseminate and explain the Guiding Principles to representatives of governments, NGOs, the UN agencies and the displaced themselves, in order to ensure better protection and assistance to internally displaced persons. A total of 59 participants attended the workshop: 34 participants represented different state emergency agencies, the National Commission for Refugees and regional state authorities from all over Nigeria; national and international non-governmental organizations sent 22 representatives and the UN system was represented by UNICEF and UNHCR (3 participants).

**Date**: 17-19 February 2003

# **National Response**

#### **National Response**

Despite positive developments in recent months (*c.f., section 10*), in the absence of a clear policy, legal framework and a comprehensive approach, efforts to prevent arbitrary displacement, to mitigate the effects of displacement and to minimise its duration have so far been insufficient.

The response to displacement, generally included under disaster management mechanisms, has been uneven, depending on the state affected, uncoordinated and ad hoc. The lack of adequate planning, monitoring and evaluation and the politicisation of assistance have led to deficiencies and duplications (Je'adayibe, 2008: 173; USDoS, 2011: 35; CISLAC/IDMC, 2011). The tendency has been to focus on the provision of assistance and to neglect protection needs. Weaknesses exist in the operations of the two main government bodies tasked with responding to internal displacement, the NEMA and the NCFR, notably because their budgets are inadequate to cover the needs (Egwu, 2011: 3; USDoS, 2011: 35).

The agency mandated to coordinate disaster management throughout the country, NEMA, has no specific IDP policy, but is charged with responding to the immediate needs of displaced populations when necessary. Local governments are the first responsible for ensuring an adequate response. State Emergency Management Agencies (SEMAs) with varying capacity are expected to step in when local authorities are unable to do so. Assistance from the federal government is only to be requested when the required response is beyond the capacity of the local and state authorities. Upon the president's decision, necessary support is provided through NEMA, which operates offices in the six geopolitical zones of the country, for implementation of policy, coordination and communication purposes (NEMA, June 2009, with IDMC; NEMA, July 2009; Economic Confidential, 2010; News Agency of Nigeria, 16 April 2012). IDP camps, described as a last and temporary resort, are usually run by NEMA or the SEMAs and the Nigerian Red Cross, in conjunction with relevant agencies (News Agency of Nigeria, 15 April 2012; NEMA, National Contingency Plan 2011-2012; e-mail exchange NRC, May 2012).

The National Commission for Refugees (NCFR) was established by Decree 52, now Cap N21, to oversee all refugee matters in Nigeria. In 2002, its mandate was extended to include the assistance and protection of internally displaced people, as well as their resettlement, rehabilitation and reintegration (NCFR, 2008, Explanatory note of the NCFR/NGO Humanitarian Framework Cooperation, para http://www.internalof and 2, 1 displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/A2E7225FBFAF2AF7C1257515004446 58/\$file/NCFR-NGO+Framework.pdf). It focuses on post-emergency situations and long-term programs aimed at enabling durable solutions for IDPs. If necessary, it assists NEMA with camp management, and it has a dedicated unit working on internal displacement. It has developed a comprehensive Plan of Action for resettlement, reconciliation, reconstruction and reintegration, but still needs to translate this into reality.

The National Human Rights Commission and the Institute of Peace and Conflict Resolution also have responsibilities with respect to the protection of IDPs' rights and the prevention and resolution of conflict (GoN, Draft IDP Policy, 2009, with IDMC). Other government agencies, as well as the military, are brought in on a case-by-case basis.

#### **Humanitarian access and assistance**

#### Humanitarian access and assistance

The humanitarian response from government agencies tends to be insufficient and slow due to bureaucracy or competing interests of ruling elites, the Nigerian Red Cross, civil society organisations, and faith-based organisations have been providing immediate relief and assistance on an ad-hoc basis in the aftermath of violence (Okpeh, 2008: p. 63-64).

Assistance tends to be short-termed and does not necessarily contribute to the longer-term reconstruction of the lives and livelihoods of those affected. In addition, assistance provided by faith-based organisations is often focused on IDPs of their religion, which might contribute to exacerbating religious antagonisms (Best, 2011: 99; Orji, 2011: 474 and 486).

Overall, the response usually targets people in camps, even though the majority of displaced people are hosted by the community. Thus, relatives and communal networks carry most of the burden of hosting and assisting displaced persons (Ibeanu, 1999: 176; Best, 2011: 65)

### **International Response**

#### **International Response**

Nigeria's donors have generally favoured development assistance, rather than humanitarian programmes. The American USAid is the largest and most influential bilateral donor, followed by the British DFID. Most multilateral funding has been channelled through UNDP, the World Bank and the European Union. Donors have mostly focused on providing support to tackle poverty through promoting good governance, democratization, rule of law and human rights (Amundsen, 2010: xii and 36). The cluster approach has not been adopted in Nigeria. The UN Country Team coordinates the inter-agency response through its Emergency Preparedness Working Group.

# Recommendations by international human rights bodies

#### Recommendations by international human rights bodies

Committee on the Rights of the Child (CRC): In its 54th session (2010), the CRC expressed concerns "at the absence of a comprehensive legislative and policy framework on IDPs to effectively address the situation of IDP children, especially those displaced in connection to recent political and inter-communal unrest and violence, flooding and evictions, and ensure their long-term reintegration in society. The absence of a data collection system on internally displaced persons is furthermore of concern to the Committee. » (para 75)

The CRC urged Nigeria to:

- a) Adopt a comprehensive national policy on IDPs which, *inter alia*, identifies the agency responsible for the registration, monitoring and protection of IDPs, including children;
- (b) Ensure that, until such policy is in place, the National Commission for Refugees (NCFR) and the Nigerian Red Cross are provided with the necessary resources to effectively protect and ensure the rights of internally displaced children. (para 76)

Committee on the Rights of the Child, 11 June 2010, Committee on Rights of the Child concludes fifty fourth session. Concluding observations: Nigeria.

Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD): In its 66th session (2010), the CERD recalled its concerns about "prejudices and feelings of hostility among some ethnic groups in Nigeria, including active discrimination by people who consider themselves to be the original inhabitants of their region against settlers from other states and about the persistence of inter-ethnic, intercommunal and interreligious violence in Nigeria stemming from these hostile sentiments as well as disputes over commercial interest and resource control." (para 1)

#### It urged Nigeria to:

"Take all the appropriate measures to immediately stop the ethnic violence, to protect the victims; and to avoid the repetition of such killings in the future in compliance with its obligations under the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination." (para 5)

"Investigate the massacres, bring to justice those responsible and to provide redress to the victims and their families." (para 6)

"Conduct studies on the underlying causes of the ethnic violence in Nigeria; to firmly address all underlying causes of tension leading to this repeated violence, and to promote dialogue between different ethnic communities in view to achieve tolerance and peace." (para 7)

Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, 11 March 2010, Prevention of Racial Discrimination, Including Early Warning Procedures and Urgent Action Procedures; Situation in Nigeria.

Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW): In its sixth periodic report on Nigeria (2008), the CEDAW expressed "concern about the situation of internally displaced women, including women with disabilities, displaced by violence and conflict, in particular in view of their precarious living conditions in camps where they are at increased risk of sexual and other forms of violence and lack access to health care, education and economic opportunities." (para 340)

The Committee urged Nigeria to adopt a national policy on displacement, addressing specific vulnerabilities of women and girls, and to formulate and implement "gender-sensitive plans and programmes for social reintegration, capacity-building and training of internally displaced persons." (para 341)

Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women, Forty-first session, 30 June-18 July 2008, Concluding observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women: Nigeria.

#### LIST OF SOURCES USED

(alphabetical order)

Africa Review, April 2012, Boko Haram Terror War: Food Scarcity Looms in Nigeria

Internet : <a href="http://www.africareview.com/Special+Reports/Boko+Harams+food+threat/-/979182/1377876/-/nwcgn4z/-/">http://www.africareview.com/Special+Reports/Boko+Harams+food+threat/-/979182/1377876/-/nwcgn4z/-/</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

African Herald Express, 11 March 2012, Benue: Over 10,000 Natives Flee Fulani/Tiv Crisis Zone

Internet : <a href="http://africanheraldexpress.com/blog7/2012/03/11/benue-over-10000-natives-flee-fulanitiv-crisis-zone">http://africanheraldexpress.com/blog7/2012/03/11/benue-over-10000-natives-flee-fulanitiv-crisis-zone</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Agence France-Presse (AFP)**, 9 April 2012, Dozens of Boko Haram in Mali's Rebel Seized Gao Internet : <a href="http://www.africareview.com/News/Boko+Haram+fighters+in+Mali/-/979180/1383548/-/9eq6dfz/-/index.html">http://www.africareview.com/News/Boko+Haram+fighters+in+Mali/-/979180/1383548/-/9eq6dfz/-/index.html</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

Albert, I. O., 2011, Violences électorales au cours de la IVe République nigériane

Internet: <a href="http://www.cairn.info/revue-afrique-contemporaine-2011-3-page-105.htm">http://www.cairn.info/revue-afrique-contemporaine-2011-3-page-105.htm</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

Aluaigba, M. T., 17 November 2009, The Tiv-Jukun Ethnic Conflict and the Citizenship Question in Nigeria

Internet : <a href="http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/Moses">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/Moses</a> T- ALUAIGBA - The Tiv-Jukun Ethnic Conflict and the Citizenship Question in Nigeria.pdf , accessed 22 May 2012

**Amnesty International (AI)**, 24 January 2012, Nigeria: Authorities Must Protect Population against Deadly Attacks

Internet : <a href="http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/AFR44/003/2012/en/25d7ee4a-2599-4c78-8fde-f402a18fa889/afr440032012en.html">http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/AFR44/003/2012/en/25d7ee4a-2599-4c78-8fde-f402a18fa889/afr440032012en.html</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

Amnesty International (AI), October 2011, Nigeria: Human Rights Agenda 2011-2015

 $\frac{\text{Internet}}{978\text{c}-3\text{eab}4\text{c}10\text{d}9\text{ff}/\text{a}\text{fr}440142011\text{en.pdf}}, \text{ accessed 22 May 2012}$ 

Amnesty International (AI), 28 November 2006, Nigeria: Rape - the Silent Weapon Internet: <a href="http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/AFR44/020/2006/en/d6ffed15-d3e9-11dd-8743-d305bea2b2c7/afr440202006en.pdf">http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/AFR44/020/2006/en/d6ffed15-d3e9-11dd-8743-d305bea2b2c7/afr440202006en.pdf</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

Amnesty International (AI), 26 August 2011, Nigeria: Two Years after Njemanze Community Was Demolished – Nigerians Need a Housing Policy That Respects Human Rights Internet : <a href="http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/AFR44/020/2011/en/7b18585d-b658-4883-a015-833e95d8d6b5/afr440202011en.html">http://www.amnesty.org/en/library/asset/AFR44/020/2011/en/7b18585d-b658-4883-a015-833e95d8d6b5/afr440202011en.html</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

Amnesty International (AI), 9 December 2009, Nigerian police 'kill at will'

Internet : <a href="http://www.amnesty.org/en/news-and-updates/report/nigerian-police-039kill-will039-20091209">http://www.amnesty.org/en/news-and-updates/report/nigerian-police-039kill-will039-20091209</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Amnesty International (AI)**, 2011, Annual Report 2011: The State of the World's Human Rights Internet: http://www.amnesty.org/en/region/nigeria/report-2011, accessed 22 May 2012

Amundsen, I., 2010, Good Governance in Nigeria; a Study in Political Economy and Donor Support

Internet: <a href="http://www.norad.no/en/tools-and-publications/publications/publication?key=203616">http://www.norad.no/en/tools-and-publications/publications/publication?key=203616</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

Armed Conflict Location & Event Dataset (ACLED), April 2012, Conflict Trends: Real-Time Analysis of African Political Violence Internet : <a href="http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/Conflict Trends Report April 2012.pdf">http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/Conflict Trends Report April 2012.pdf</a> , accessed 22 May 2012

**Associated Press (AP)**, 19 March 2012, As Violence Reigns, Some Flee North Nigeria Internet: <a href="http://www.newswest9.com/story/17191704/as-violence-reigns-some-flee-north-nigeria">http://www.newswest9.com/story/17191704/as-violence-reigns-some-flee-north-nigeria</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Associated Press (AP)**, 19 March 2012, Continuing attacks by radical Islamist sect see some flee north Nigeria, a faint echo of past

 $\label{local_internet} Internet: $\frac{\text{http://www.washingtonpost.com/world/africa/continuing-attacks-by-radical-islamist-sect-see-some-flee-north-nigeria-a-faint-echo-of-past/2012/03/19/gIQAgyiLNS story.html}{20 \text{ March 2012}} \ , $$ accessed $20 \text{ March 2012}$$ 

**BBC News**, 24 September 2010, Northern Nigeria flooding 'displaces two million' Internet: <a href="http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-africa-11409167">http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-africa-11409167</a>, accessed 8 June 2012

**BBC News**, 31 August 2011, Nigeria Floods: Death Toll in Ibadan Rises Internet: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-africa-14735726, accessed 22 May 2012

**BBC News**, 15 March 2012, Nigeria Attacks: 'Boko Haram Bombed My Church' Internet: <a href="http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-africa-17369800">http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-africa-17369800</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Best, S. G., and Rakodi, C.**, 2011, Violent Conflict and Its Aftermath in Jos and Kano, Nigeria: What Is the Role of Religion?

http://www.religionsanddevelopment.org/files/resourcesmodule/@random454f80f60b3f4/1330691480 working paper 69.pdf , accessed 22 May 2012

Blench, R., 6 September 2003, DFID Position Paper: Migration, 'The City Is Our Farm' Internet

Internet

 $\frac{http://www.rogerblench.info/Development/Nigeria/Economic\%20development/Migration\%20\%20Paper\%20Blench\%20short.pdf}{aper\%20Blench\%20short.pdf} \ , \ accessed \ 22 \ May \ 2012$ 

**Blench, R. and al.**, 9 November 2006, The Role of Traditional Rulers in Conflict Prevention and Mediation in Nigeria

http://www.rogerblench.info/Development/Nigeria/Conflict%20resolution/Final%20Report%20TRs%20September%2006.pdf, accessed 22 May 2012

**Brandeis University**, October 2006, Management of Internal Displacement in Nigeria Internet : <a href="http://www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/124E6A6F1688C2D7C12572250053592">http://www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/124E6A6F1688C2D7C12572250053592</a> B/\$file/ids nigeria brandeis.pdf ,

**Business Day**, 18 April 2012, Boko Haram: What Cost for the Northern Economy Internet: <a href="http://www.businessdayonline.com/NG/index.php/news/latest/36159-boko-haram-what-cost-for-the-northern-economy?tmpl=component&print=1&layout=default&page="http://www.businessdayonline.com/NG/index.php/news/latest/36159-boko-haram-what-cost-for-the-northern-economy?tmpl=component&print=1&layout=default&page="http://www.businessdayonline.com/NG/index.php/news/latest/36159-boko-haram-what-cost-for-the-northern-economy?tmpl=component&print=1&layout=default&page="http://www.businessdayonline.com/NG/index.php/news/latest/36159-boko-haram-what-cost-for-the-northern-economy?tmpl=component&print=1&layout=default&page="http://www.businessdayonline.com/NG/index.php/news/latest/36159-boko-haram-what-cost-for-the-northern-economy?tmpl=component&print=1&layout=default&page="http://www.businessdayonline.com/NG/index.php/news/latest/36159-boko-haram-what-cost-for-the-northern-economy?tmpl=component&print=1&layout=default&page="http://www.businessdayonline.com/NG/index.php/news/latest/36159-boko-haram-what-cost-for-the-northern-economy?tmpl=component&print=1&layout=default&page="http://www.businessdayonline.com/NG/index.php/news/latest/36159-boko-haram-what-cost-for-the-northern-economy?tmpl=component&print=1&layout=default&page="http://www.businessdayonline.com/NG/index.php/news/latest/36159-boko-haram-what-cost-for-the-northern-economy?tmpl=component&print=1&layout=default&page="http://www.businessdayonline.com/NG/index.php/news/latest/36159-boko-haram-what-cost-for-the-northern-economy."

**Centre on Housing Rights and Evictions (COHRE)**, May 2008, The Myth of the Abuja Master Plan: Forced evictions as urban planning in Abuja, Nigeria

Internet :

http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/A48C369A8401D54BC125744A003B52F5-Full\_report.pdf , accessed 22 May 2012

**Chouin, G.**, 2011, Paradoxes Des Élections Générales 2011 Au Nigeria. Démocratie Affirmée, Violences Exacerbées

Internet: <a href="http://www.cairn.info/revue-afrique-contemporaine-2011-3-page-61.htm">http://www.cairn.info/revue-afrique-contemporaine-2011-3-page-61.htm</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Civil Society Legislative Advocacy Centre (CISLAC)** / **IDMC**, 22 November 2011, Communiqué Issued at the End of a two-Day Multi Stakeholders' Conference on IDP Protection in Nigeria and the African Union Convention on the Protection and Assistance of IDPs Held at the Bolton White Hotel, Abuja

 $\frac{\text{Internet}}{\text{displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/B0B9689871740598C1257A070034D3A}}{4/\$ file/Communique+of+the+Multi+Stakeholders+Conference+on+Protecting+IDP+and+Domestic ating+the+KC+in+Nigeria.docx},$ 

Committee for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination (CERD), 14 June 2010, Prevention of Racial Discrimination, Including Early Warning Procedures and Urgent Action Procedures; Situation in Nigeria

Internet : <a href="http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cerd/docs/early-warning/Nigeria CERD.doc">http://www2.ohchr.org/english/bodies/cerd/docs/early-warning/Nigeria CERD.doc</a> , accessed 22 May 2012

Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW), 8 July 2008, Concluding observations of the Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women: Nigeria

**Daily Sun**, 11 April 2012, Benue crisis: Displaced 3,605 Fulani take refuge in C'River Internet : <a href="http://www.nigerianewsline.com/benue-crisis-displaced-3605-fulani-take-refuge-incriver/">http://www.nigerianewsline.com/benue-crisis-displaced-3605-fulani-take-refuge-incriver/</a>, accessed 23 May 2012

**Daily Trust (Abuja)**, 23 April 2012, Nigeria: NEMA Urges Cross River to Suspend Evacuation of Displaced Herdsmen

Internet: http://allafrica.com/stories/201204241131.html, accessed 22 May 2012

**Daily Trust (Abuja)**, 9 March 2012, Tiv/Fulani clash in Benue causes panic in Nasarawa Internet

http://www.dailytrust.com.ng/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=156710;tivfulaniclash-in-benue-causes-panic-in-nasarawa&catid=1;news&ltemid=2, accessed 22 May 2012

**Danjibo, N. D.**, 17 November 2009, Islamic Fundamentalism and Sectarian Violence: The "Maitatsine" and "Boko Haram" Crises in Northern Nigeria

Internet : <a href="http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/N-D-DANJIBO-Islamic Fundamentalism and Sectarian Violence The Maitatsine and Boko Haram Crises in Northern Nigeria.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/N-D-DANJIBO-Islamic Fundamentalism and Sectarian Violence The Maitatsine and Boko Haram Crises in Northern Nigeria.pdf</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Diprose, R. and Ukiwo, U.**, February 2008, Decentralisation and Conflict Management in Indonesia and Nigeria

Internet: http://www.crise.ox.ac.uk/pubs/workingpaper49.pdf, accessed 22 May 2012

**Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS)**, 2011, Final Communique. First Ministerial Conference on Humanitarian Assistance and Internal Displacement in West Africa

**Economic Confidential**, March 2010, Nema Takes Disaster Management to Local Government Internet : <a href="http://economicconfidential.net/new/news/state-news/205-nema-takes-disaster-management-to-local-government">http://economicconfidential.net/new/news/state-news/205-nema-takes-disaster-management-to-local-government</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Egwu, S.**, November 2011, Ethnic Crisis and Internal Displacement in Nigeria: Socio-Political Dimensions and Solutions. Paper presented at the Multi-Stakeholders Conference on Internal Displacement in Nigeria

**Enweremadu, D. U.**, 2011, De l'abus endémique à l'exemplarité électorale? Internet : <a href="http://www.cairn.info/revue-afrique-contemporaine-2011-3-page-119.htm">http://www.cairn.info/revue-afrique-contemporaine-2011-3-page-119.htm</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Enweremadu, D. U.**, 17 November 2009, Ending the Vicious Circle: Oil, Corruption, and Violent Conflict in the Niger Delta
Internet : <a href="http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U-ENWEREMADU-">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U-ENWEREMADU-</a>

Internet : <a href="http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U- ENWEREMADU">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U- ENWEREMADU</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U- ENWEREMADU</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U- ENWEREMADU</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U- ENWEREMADU</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U- ENWEREMADU</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U- ENWEREMADU</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U- ENWEREMADU</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U- ENWEREMADU</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/David U- ENWEREMADU</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.pdf</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.pdf</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.pdf</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.pdf</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle Oil Corruption and Violent conflict in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.pdf</a>
<a href="Ending the Vicious Circle

Falola, T. and Heaton, M., 2008, A History of Nigeria

**Forced Migration Review (FMR)**, 2008, Internal Displacement in Nigeria Internet: <a href="http://www.fmreview.org/FMRpdfs/FMR31/37.pdf">http://www.fmreview.org/FMRpdfs/FMR31/37.pdf</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Giant Strides**, April 2012, Fulani Refugees in CRS Return to Benue And Taraba Internet : <a href="http://giantstrides.crs.gov.ng/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=698:-fulani-refugees-in-crs-return-to-benue-and-taraba&catid=49:emergency-and-security&ltemid=11">http://giantstrides.crs.gov.ng/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=698:-fulani-refugees-in-crs-return-to-benue-and-taraba&catid=49:emergency-and-security&ltemid=11</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Government of Nigeria**, 2011, Nigeria's 4th Periodic Country Report 2008-2010 on the Implementation of the African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights in Nigeria Internet: <a href="http://www.achpr.org/files/sessions/50th/state-reports/4th-2008-2010/staterep4">http://www.achpr.org/files/sessions/50th/state-reports/4th-2008-2010/staterep4</a> nigeria 2011 eng.pdf, accessed 22 May 2012

**Government of Nigeria, National Emergency Management Agency (NEMA)**, July 2009, Nigeria: NEMA Appeals to States to Establish Disaster Agencies Internet: <a href="http://reliefweb.int/node/325999">http://reliefweb.int/node/325999</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

Government of Nigeria, National Emergency Management Agency (NEMA), 2010, National Contingency Plan

Internet: <a href="http://www.nema.gov.ng/documentation/national-contingency-plan.aspx">http://www.nema.gov.ng/documentation/national-contingency-plan.aspx</a> , accessed 23 May 2012

**Government of Nigeria, National Emergency Management Agency (NEMA)**, November 2011, Addressing Internal Displacement. Training Workshop for the National Human Rights Commission (NHRC) on Internally Displaced Persons. Dunoma Plaza Hotel, Lafiya, Nasarawa State

**Human Rights Watch (HRW)**, October 2007, Violence, "Godfathers" and Corruption in Nigeria Internet: <a href="http://hrw.org/reports/2007/nigeria1007/">http://hrw.org/reports/2007/nigeria1007/</a>, accessed 9 October 2007

Human Rights Watch (HRW), 16 May 2011, Post-Election Violence Killed 800
Internet : <a href="http://www.hrw.org/en/news/2011/05/16/nigeria-post-election-violence-killed-800">http://www.hrw.org/en/news/2011/05/16/nigeria-post-election-violence-killed-800</a> accessed 17 May 2011

**Human Rights Watch (HRW)**, 7 March 2012, Nigeria: Boko Haram Targeting Schools; Attacks Threaten Children, Undermine Right to Education

 $Internet: \underline{http://www.hrw.org/news/2012/03/07/nigeria-boko-haram-targeting-schools} \ , \ accessed \ 22 \ May \ 2012$ 

**Human Rights Watch (HRW)**, April 2006, "They Do Not Own This Place" Government Discrimination against "Non-Indigenes" in Nigeria

Internet: <a href="http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/nigeria0406webwcover.pdf">http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/nigeria0406webwcover.pdf</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Human Rights Watch (HRW)**, July 2003, The Miss World Riots: Continued Impunity for Killing in Kaduna

 $Internet: \underline{http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/nigeria0703\_full.pdf} \ , \ accessed \ 22 \ May \ 2012$ 

**Human Rights Watch (HRW)**, July 2009, Arbitrary Killings by Security Forces; Submission to the Investigative Bodies on the November 28-29, 2008 Violence in Jos, Plateau State, Nigeria Internet: <a href="http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/nigeria0709webwcover.pdf">http://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/reports/nigeria0709webwcover.pdf</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

Human Rights Watch (HRW), 24 January 2011, World Report 2011 - Nigeria Internet : <a href="http://www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/0407C822A8097E9FC1257824003825E">http://www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/0407C822A8097E9FC1257824003825E</a>
D/\$file/Human+Rights+Watch,+World+Report+2011+-+Nigeria,+24+January+2011.pdf

**Ibaba, S. I.**, 2011, Amnesty and Peace-Building in the Niger Delta: Addressing the Frustration-Aggression Trap

Internet: <a href="http://www.africanajournal.org/PDF/vol5no1/Vol5No1">http://www.africanajournal.org/PDF/vol5no1/Vol5No1</a> 10 Ibaba.pdf , accessed 22 May 2012

**Ibeanu, O.**, August 2006, Civil Society and Conflict Management in the Niger Delta: Scoping Gaps for Policy and Advocacy

Internet: http://www.cleen.org/Final%20Report.%20Niger%20Delta.pdf, accessed 22 May 2012

**Ibeanu, O.**, 2001, State-Making and Internal Population Displacement: Factoring the State into Forced Migration in Nigeria During Military Rule

Internet: http://www.ethnonet-africa.org/pubs/crossroadsibea.htm, accessed 22 May 2012

**Ibeanu, O., Journal of Refugee Studies**, 1999, Exiles Intheir Own Home: Conflicts and Internal Population Displacement in Nigeria

**Idemudia, Uwafiokun & Ite, Uwem E.**, September 2006, Review of African Political Economy, "Demystifying the Niger Delta Conflict: Towards an Integrated Explanation", Volume 33, Number 109, September 2006, pp. 391-406(16)

**Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN)**, 28 March 2007, Kano residents prepare to flee ahead of the elections

Internet: http://www.irinnews.org/Report.aspx?ReportId=71027, accessed 5 April 2007

**Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN)**, 4 December 2008, Jos displaced grapple with food, water, medicine shortages

Internet: http://www.irinnews.org/Report.aspx?ReportId=81816, accessed 4 December 2008

**Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN)**, 27 January 2010, Aid agencies "staggered" by IDP numbers

Internet: http://www.irinnews.org/Report.aspx?ReportId=87896, accessed 29 January 2010

Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN), 19 January 2012, Boko Haram displaced fear returning home

Internet: http://www.irinnews.org/report.aspx?reportid=94665, accessed 23 January 2012

**Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN)**, 30 December 2005, Nigeria: Desert's march fuels tensions

Internet

http://www.irinnews.org/report.asp?ReportID=50905&SelectRegion=West Africa&SelectCountry=NIGERIA, accessed 15 September 2006

**Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN)**, 26 June 2006, Nigeria: Worsening violence in Delta could force foreign intervention

Internet :

http://www.irinnews.org/report.asp?ReportID=54189&SelectRegion=West Africa&SelectCountry=NIGERIA, accessed 15 September 2006

**Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN)**, 22 May 2009, Nigeria: Thousands Flee Violence, Hundreds Suspected Dead

Internet : <a href="http://www.irinnews.org/Report/84512/NIGERIA-Thousands-flee-violence-hundreds-suspected-dead">http://www.irinnews.org/Report/84512/NIGERIA-Thousands-flee-violence-hundreds-suspected-dead</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN)**, 18 July 2011, Analysis: Understanding Nigeria's Boko Haram Radicals

Internet: <a href="http://www.irinnews.org/Report/93250/Analysis-Understanding-Nigeria-s-Boko-Haram-radicals">http://www.irinnews.org/Report/93250/Analysis-Understanding-Nigeria-s-Boko-Haram-radicals</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN)**, 25 November 2011, Niger Delta Still Unstable Despite Amnesty

Internet : <a href="http://www.irinnews.org/Report/94306/Analysis-Niger-Delta-still-unstable-despite-amnesty">http://www.irinnews.org/Report/94306/Analysis-Niger-Delta-still-unstable-despite-amnesty</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN)**, 20 January 2012, Nigeria: Timeline of Boko Haram Attacks and Related Violence

Internet : <a href="http://www.irinnews.org/Report/94691/NIGERIA-Timeline-of-Boko-Haram-atta">http://www.irinnews.org/Report/94691/NIGERIA-Timeline-of-Boko-Haram-atta</a> accessed 22 May 2012

**Integrated Regional Information Networks (IRIN)**, 6 March 2012, Nigeria-Chad: Migrants Fleeing Boko Haram Violence Await Aid

Internet: <a href="http://www.irinnews.org/Report/95014/NIGERIA-CHAD-Migrants-fleeing-Boko-Haram-violence-await-aid">http://www.irinnews.org/Report/95014/NIGERIA-CHAD-Migrants-fleeing-Boko-Haram-violence-await-aid</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), 17 March 2008, How Is the Term "Armed Conflict" Defined in International Humanitarian Law?

Internet : <a href="http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/article/other/armed-conflict-article-170308.htm">http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/article/other/armed-conflict-article-170308.htm</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC)**, 13 January 2012, Nigeria: Responding to Multiple Situations of Violence

Internet : <a href="http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/update/2012/nigeria-update-2012-01-13.htm">http://www.icrc.org/eng/resources/documents/update/2012/nigeria-update-2012-01-13.htm</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

International Crisis Group (ICG), 2 January 2012, Crisiswatch Database

Internet : <a href="http://www.crisisgroup.org/en/publication-type/crisiswatch/crisiswatch-database.aspx?EndDate=20120131&StartDate=20120101&CountryIDs={3103A533-A2BE-4809-A42C-DED2660987E0}">http://www.crisisgroup.org/en/publication-type/crisiswatch/crisiswatch-database.aspx?EndDate=20120131&StartDate=20120101&CountryIDs={3103A533-A2BE-4809-A42C-DED2660987E0}</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

International Crisis Group (ICG), 15 September 2011, Lessons from Nigeria's 2011 Elections Internet : <a href="http://www.crisisgroup.org/~/media/Files/africa/west-africa/nigeria/B81%20-%20Lessons%20from%20Nigeras%202011%20Elections.pdf">http://www.crisisgroup.org/~/media/Files/africa/west-africa/nigeria/B81%20-%20Lessons%20from%20Nigeras%202011%20Elections.pdf</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

International Crisis Group (ICG), 20 December 2010, Northern Nigeria: Background to Conflict - Africa Report N°168

Internet : <a href="http://www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/7816497E740F33DEC12578000034637">http://www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/7816497E740F33DEC12578000034637</a> C/\$file/ICG,+Northern+Nigeria+Background+to+Conflict+-+Africa+Report+Nb+168.pdf,

International Federation of the Red Cross (IFRC), 10 November 2008, Nigeria: Population Movement; Emergency Appeal No. MDRNG007 Internet : <a href="http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/DDD714C2F9D3E83AC12574FE004ECF1C-Full Report.pdf">http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/DDD714C2F9D3E83AC12574FE004ECF1C-Full Report.pdf</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

International Review of the Red Cross, March 2009, Typology of Armed Conflicts in International Humanitarian Law: Legal Concepts and Actual Situations Internet: http://www.icrc.org/eng/assets/files/other/irrc-873-vite.pdf, accessed 23 May 2012

**Je'adayibe G.D., and Kudu, A.**, 2010, Sliding Towards Armageddon: Revisiting Ethno-Religious Crises in Nigeria

Internet: http://www.tcnn.org/index\_files/rb52.gwamna.html, accessed 22 May 2012

**Je'adayibe, Gwamma Dogara**, 2008, Religious Conflicts and Internally Displaced Persons in Nigeria

Ladan, M. T., November 2011, Overview of International and Regional Frameworks Governing Internal Displacement

**Leadership**, 24 January 2011, Nigeria: 5,000 Victims of Jos Crises Resettled in Bauchi - NEMA Internet: <a href="http://allafrica.com/stories/201101241293.html">http://allafrica.com/stories/201101241293.html</a>, accessed 31 January 2011

**Leadership**, 14 April 2012, NEMA to Close Down IDP Camps Internet: http://allafrica.com/stories/201204160608.html, accessed 22 May 2012

**Leadership**, 5 May 2012, Nigeria: One Year After - Kaduna Election Victims Still Homeless Internet: http://allafrica.com/stories/201205060145.html, accessed 22 May 2012

**Madubuike, S. C.**, 17 November 2009, Ethnic Conflicts: Social Identity and Resource Control Agitations in the Niger Delta

Internet : <a href="http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/Solomon C- MADUBUIKE - Ethnic Conflicts Social Identity and Resource Control Agitations in the Niger Delta.pdf">http://www.ifra-nigeria.org/IMG/pdf/Solomon C- MADUBUIKE - Ethnic Conflicts Social Identity and Resource Control Agitations in the Niger Delta.pdf</a> , accessed 22 May 2012

Martin, M., 2005, The Fate of Africa; a History of Fifty Years of Independence

**Mberu, B. U., and Pongou, R.**, June 2010, Nigeria: Multiple Forms of Mobility in Africa's Demographic Giant

Internet: <a href="http://www.migrationinformation.org/Profiles/display.cfm?ID=788">http://www.migrationinformation.org/Profiles/display.cfm?ID=788</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**Mustapha, A., R.**, 9 July 2007, Institutionalising Ethnic Representation: How Effective Is the Federal Character Commission in Nigeria?

Internet: <a href="http://www.crise.ox.ac.uk/copy/Oxford%20Policy%20Conference/workingpaper43.pdf">http://www.crise.ox.ac.uk/copy/Oxford%20Policy%20Conference/workingpaper43.pdf</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**National Commission for Refugees (NCFR)**, 2008, Explanatory note of the NCFR/NGO Humanitarian Framework of Cooperation

Internet : <a href="http://www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/A2E7225FBFAF2AF7C1257515004446">http://www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/A2E7225FBFAF2AF7C1257515004446</a> 58/\$file/NCFR-NGO+Framework.pdf ,

**National Mirror**, 22 March 2012, No Internal Conflict in Nigeria, Says Red Cross Internet: http://nationalmirroronline.net/news/34746.html, accessed 22 May 2012

**News Agency of Nigeria**, 16 April 2012, NEMA Decries Absence of State Emergency Agency in Plateau

Internet :

http://leadership.ng/nga/articles/22139/2012/04/16/nema decries absence state emergency ag ency\_plateau.html , accessed 22 May 2012

**Nigerian Tribune**, 13 January 2012, Protests: 4,000 Displaced in Benin, 300 Injured Nationwide Internet : <a href="http://tribune.com.ng/index.php/news/34288-protests-4000-displaced-in-benin-300-injured-nationwide-red-cross">http://tribune.com.ng/index.php/news/34288-protests-4000-displaced-in-benin-300-injured-nationwide-red-cross</a>, accessed 23 May 2012

**Nigerian Tribune**, 2 July 2010, Bauchi resettles 30,000 displaced persons with N135m Internet : <a href="http://www.tribune.com.ng/index.php/news/7702-bauchi-resettles-30000-displaced-persons-with-n135m">http://www.tribune.com.ng/index.php/news/7702-bauchi-resettles-30000-displaced-persons-with-n135m</a>, accessed 5 July 2010

Okpeh O. Jr., 2008, Inter-Group Migrations, Conflicts, and Displacements in Central Nigeria

**Orji, N., Journal of Refugee Studies**, 2011, Faith-Based Aid to People Affected by Conflict in Jos, Nigeria: An Analysis of the Role of Christian and Muslim Organizations

Radio France Internationale (RFI), 10 April 2012, Mali: Nord - Boko Haram en renfort des islamistes armés

Internet: http://fr.allafrica.com/stories/201204100306.html, accessed 23 May 2012

Reuters, 9 April 2012, Factbox: Nigeria's Boko Haram

Internet: <a href="http://www.trust.org/alertnet/news/factbox-nigerias-boko-haram/">http://www.trust.org/alertnet/news/factbox-nigerias-boko-haram/</a>, accessed 23 May 2012

**Shaba, H. A.**, June 2009, Presentation: National Disaster Management System in Nigeria Internet : <a href="http://www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/0D83D1B498839717C1257A070037DA">http://www.internal-displacement.org/8025708F004CE90B/(httpDocuments)/0D83D1B498839717C1257A070037DA</a> 22/\$file/nigeriappt.ppt ,

**Shaka, J.**, November 2011, Inside the Labyrinth: Nigeria's Unending Conflicts. An Interview with Dr Sadeeque Abubakar Abba

Internet : <a href="http://www.uoc.edu/ojs/index.php/journal-of-conflictology/article/view/vol2iss2-shaka/vol2iss2-shaka">http://www.uoc.edu/ojs/index.php/journal-of-conflictology/article/view/vol2iss2-shaka/vol2iss2-shaka</a>, accessed 23 May 2012

**Social and Economic Rights Action Center (SERAC)**, 12 August 2011, Human Rights Atrocities Soar in Maiduguri, Borno State

Internet: http://www.serac.org/Pages.asp?id=293, accessed 23 May 2012

Sunday Nation, 10 January 2012, 5 dead, 10,000 displaced after Muslims targeted in Nigeria

Internet :

http://www.nation.co.ke/News/africa/5+dead+10000+displaced+after+Muslims+targeted+in+Nigeria/-/1066/1303162/-/wq7c5q/-/index.html, accessed 23 May 2012

**Sunday Tribune (Nigeria)**, 15 May 2011, 500,000 Million Nigerians Displaced by Flood Internet : <a href="http://www.tribune.com.ng/sun/community-news/3862-500000-million-nigerians-displaced-by-flood--nema">http://www.tribune.com.ng/sun/community-news/3862-500000-million-nigerians-displaced-by-flood--nema</a>, accessed 23 May 2012

**The Economist**, 8 November 2011, Attacks in Nigeria; Violence Is Rising Internet: <a href="http://www.economist.com/blogs/baobab/2011/11/attacks-nigiera">http://www.economist.com/blogs/baobab/2011/11/attacks-nigiera</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**The Economist**, 23 January 2012, Violence in Nigeria; the Worst Yet Internet: <a href="http://www.economist.com/blogs/baobab/2012/01/violence-nigeria">http://www.economist.com/blogs/baobab/2012/01/violence-nigeria</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**The Economist**, 12 November 2009, Nigeria; Hints of a New Chapter; as Militants Lay Down Their Arms in the Niger Delta, the Battle Is on to Tackle Nigeria's Other Massive Ills Internet: http://www.economist.com/node/14843563, accessed 22 May 2012

**The Economist**, 13 April 2010, More Than Sectarian Strife; a City in Nigeria Blighted by Violence Internet: http://www.economist.com/node/15860372, accessed 22 May 2012

**The Economist**, 27 August 2011, Northern Nigeria; Sounding Like the Middle East; Islamic Extremists Are a Daily Threat

Internet: http://www.economist.com/node/21526939, accessed 22 May 2012

**The Economist**, 14 January 2012, The Spreading Northern Insurgency Internet: <a href="http://www.economist.com/node/21542764">http://www.economist.com/node/21542764</a>, accessed 22 May 2012

**The Economist**, 28 January 2012, Globalisation and Jihadism Intersect in the Little-Known Metropolis of Kano

Internet: http://www.economist.com/node/21543592, accessed 22 May 2012

**The Guardian (Nigeria)**, 27 March 2012, Food Scarcity Looms as Farmers Flee Boko Haram Attacks

Internet : http://www.ngrguardiannews.com/index.php?option=com content&view=article&id=81363:food-

scarcity-looms-as-farmers-flee-boko-haram-attacks&catid=1:national&Itemid=559, accessed 22 May 2012

The Punch, 23 April 2012, 3,500 displaced Fulani herdsmen return home

Internet : <a href="http://www.punchng.com/metro/3500-displaced-fulani-herdsmen-return-home">http://www.punchng.com/metro/3500-displaced-fulani-herdsmen-return-home</a> accessed 23 May 2012

The Punch, 23 March 2012, One Million Persons Internally Displaced

Internet : <a href="http://www.punchng.com/news/one-million-persons-internally-displaced-refugee-commission">http://www.punchng.com/news/one-million-persons-internally-displaced-refugee-commission</a>), accessed 23 May 2012

**The Refugee Council**, February 2009, The Vulnerable Women's Project; Refugee and Asylum Seeking Women Affected by Rape or Sexual Violence; Literature Review Internet:

http://www.refugeecouncil.org.uk/Resources/Refugee%20Council/downloads/researchreports/RC%20VWP-report-web.pdf , accessed 23 May 2012

**The World Organisation Against Torture (OMCT)**, 26 August 2002, Hope Betrayed? A Report on Impunity and State Sponsored Violence in Nigeria

Internet: http://www.omct.org/files/2002/09/1231/nigeriareport0802.pdf, accessed 23 May 2012

**United Nations**, 11 November 2004, Consolidated Appeals Process (CAP): Humanitarian Appeal 2005 for West Africa

United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), 2011, Human Development Report 2011 Internet: http://hdr.undp.org/en/media/HDR 2011 EN Complete.pdf, accessed 13 April 2012

**United Nations (UN)**, 11 November 2004, Consolidated Appeals Process (CAP): Humanitarian Appeal 2005 for West Africa

Internet :

http://www.reliefweb.int/w/rwb.nsf/6686f45896f15dbc852567ae00530132/300ab8ace1c70178c1256f41004c394d?OpenDocument, accessed 22 November 2004

**U.S. Department of State (U.S. DOS)**, 2011, 2010 Country Reports on Human Rights Practices: Nigeria

Internet: http://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/hrrpt/2010/index.htm, accessed 23 May 2012

U.S. Department of State (U.S. DOS), 2000, Background notes: Nigeria

Internet: <a href="http://www.state.gov/www/background\_notes/nigeria\_0008\_bgn.html">http://www.state.gov/www/background\_notes/nigeria\_0008\_bgn.html</a>, accessed 23 May 2012

Vanguard, 2 January 2012, Boko Haram issues three-day ultimatum to Christians

Internet : <a href="http://www.vanguardngr.com/2012/01/boko-haram-spokesman-threatens-christians-troops/">http://www.vanguardngr.com/2012/01/boko-haram-spokesman-threatens-christians-troops/</a>, accessed 23 May 2012

Vanguard, 7 April 2012, Travails of the Displaced

Internet: http://www.vanguardngr.com/2012/04/travails-of-the-displaced/, accessed 23 May 2012

Voice of America (VOA), 30 January 2012, Nigeria's Igbo Tribal Elders Call for Evacuation Due to Violence

Internet: <a href="http://www.voanews.com/english/news/africa/west/Nigerias-Igbo-Tribal-Elders-Call-for-Evacuation-Due-to-Violence-138322529.html">http://www.voanews.com/english/news/africa/west/Nigerias-Igbo-Tribal-Elders-Call-for-Evacuation-Due-to-Violence-138322529.html</a>, accessed 23 May 2012